




Item lA. Risk Factors. 

For an enterprise as diverse and complex as the Company, a wide range of factors present risks to the Company and could 
materially affect futw·e developments and performance. In addition to the factors affecting specific business operations 
identified in connection with the description of the Company's operations and the financial results of its operations elsewhere in 
this report, the most material of these factors are included below. Current global economic events and conditions may amplifY 
many of these risks. These risks are not the only risks that may affect the Company. Additional risks that the Company is not 
aware of or does not believe are material at the time of this filing may also become impo rtant factors that adversely affect the 
Company's business. 

Risks Related to the Company's Operations 

The Company's Inability to Continue to Develop New Products Could L imit Sales Urowth . 

The Company's ability to continue to grow organically is tied in large part to its ability to continue to develop new 
products. A tailure to continue to develop and deliver new, innovative and competitive products to the market could limit sales 
growth and negatively impact the Company and its financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. 

The Company's Urowth Strategy Includes Acquisitions and Divestitures, and the Cornpany May Not be Able to Make 
Acquisitions of Suitable Candidates, Integrate Acquisitions Successjitlly, or Successjitlly .t:xecute Divestitures. 

The Company's historical growth has included, and the Company's future growth is likely to continue to include, 
acquisitions. The Company intends to continue to seek acquisition opportunities both to expand into new markets and to 
enhance its position in existing markets throughout the world. The Company may not be able to successti.Illy identify suitable 
candidates, negotiate appropriate acquisition ten11S, obtain financing needed to consummate those acquisitions, complete 
proposed acquisitions or successti.tlly integrate acquired businesses into its existing operations. Jn addition, any acquisition, 
once successfully integrated, may not perfonn as planned, he accretive to earnings, or otherwise prove heneficial to the 
Company. 

Acquisitions invo lve numerous risks, including the assumption of unexpected, undisclosed, uninsured or unindemnified 
liabilities including exposure to litigation, governmental investigations, regulatory exposure or other claims that may be 
pending or inherited at the time of the acquisition or that may be filed, expanded or commenced thereatter ; difficulties in the 
assimilation of the operations, technologies, services and products of the acquired companies and the diversion of 
management's attention from other business concerns. In addition, prior acquisitions have resulted in, and future acquisitions 
could result in, the incurrence of substantial additional indebtedness and other expenses. 

The Company may also seck to divest portions of its business that are not deemed to fit with its strategic plan. Divestitures 
involve additional risks and uncertainties, such as the ability to sell such businesses on satistactory tenns and within the 
anticipated time frame, or at aU. Any tailure to realize the expected benefits of any divestiture transaction could negatively 
impact the Company and its frnancial condition, results of operations and cash flow. 1n addition, divestitures of businesses 
involve a number of risks, including significant costs and expenses, the loss of customer relationships, decrease in revenues and 
earnings associated with the divested business and the diversion of management's attention from other business concerns. 
Furthermo re, divestitures may also involve continued financial invo lvement in the divested business, such as through 
guarantees, indemnities or other financial obligations which could negatively impact the Company and its financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flow. 

The Markets Served by the Company are Highly Competitive and this Competition Could Reduce Sales and Pr~flt Margins. 

Most of the Company's products are sold in competitive markets. Maintaining and improving a competitive position will 
require continued investment in manutacturililg, engineering, quality standards, marketing, technology, customer service and 
support and distribution networks, The Company may not be successful in maintaining its competitive position, The Company's 
competitors may develop products that are superior, may develop methods of more efficiently and effectively providing 
products and services or may adapt quicker to new technologies or evolving customer requirements. Additionally, the 
Company's competitors may adopt new technologies and technological advancements, such as using artificial intelligence and 
machine teaming to pursue new products and approaches more quickly , successfully and effectively than the Company. The 
Company may not be able to compete successfully with existing competitors or with new competitors. Pricing pressures may 
require the Company to adjust the prices of products to stay competitive. Failure to continue competing successfully could 
reduce sales, profit margins and overall financial perfom1ance. 
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The Company is Dependent on the Availability of Raw Materials, Parts and Components Used in Its Products and Changes 
in Supply of or Price.for, Raw Materials, Paris and Components May Materially Adversely A/fectthe Company. 

While the Company manutactures certain parts and components used in its products, the Company also requires substantial 
amounts of raw materials and pw·chases certain pat1s and components from suppliers. The availability of and prices tor raw 
materials, parts and components may be subject to curtailment or change due to, among other things, suppliers' allocations to 
other purchasers, interruptions in production by suppliers, including due to geopolitical or civil unrest, unfilVorable economic or 
industry conditions, increased or new tariffs and other trade barriers, labor dismptions, S'ttpply chain disruptions, catastrophic 
weather events, natural disasters, public health concerns, changes in exchange rates and prevailing price levels. Any change in 
the supply ot: or price tor, raw materials or parts and components could materially aftect the Company and its fmancia l 
condition, results of operations and cash flow. 

The Company's 8usines.<o Operation.\· May Ne Materially Adversely Ajjected hy lnjnrmation ,\'ystems Interruptions nr 
intrusion, including those Arising From Cybersecurity Attacks or incidents or Violations o}Laws Regulating Privacy and Da1a 
Security. 

The Company depends on various internal and third party infonnation technologies to administer, store, process and 
transmit electronic information (including sensitive or controlled data such as confidential business information and personal 
data relating to employees, customers and other business partners) and to support a variety of critical business activities. Our 
business has an increasing reliance on lT systems and a growing digital footprint as a result of changing technologies, 
increasing connected devices and digital otlerings, and an increase in remote and hybrid workforce populations. Additionally, 
some of our products contain computer hardware and software and otler the ability to connect to computer networks. Our 
customers, including government customers, are also requiring cybersecurity protections and mandating cybersecurity standards 
tor our bUJsinesses with more frequency. If the Company's systems, technologies, products or services (including those we 
acquire through business acquisitions), or the systems, technologies, products or services of the Company's customers or third­
party hosting services (including third-party data centers and cloud plattorms upon which we rely), are damaged or cease to 
function properly, or if the Company or third-party hosting service systems are subject to deliberate cyber-security attacks, such 
as those involving unauthorized access or malicious software, or unintentional cybersecurity incidents, sucb as those involving 
systems misconfigurations, misuse or human en·or and/or other intrusions, the Company, its operating results and financial 
condition could be materially adversely impacted. These impacts could include production downtimes, operational delays or 
other detrimental impacts on operations or the ability to provide products and services to customers; the compromise, 
destruction, corruption or theft of confidential or otherwise protected infonnation, data or intellectual property; security 
breaches; other manipulation or improper use of the Company's systems or networks; financial losses from fraudulent 
transactions; fmanciallosses from remedial actions; loss of business or potential liability; adverse media coverage; legal claims 
or legal proceedings including regulatory investigations, actions, penalties or tines, including those arising from the violation of 
any applicable data privacy laws; and/or damage to the Company's reputation. While we have experienced, and expect to 
continue to experience, these types of threats and incidents, based on our analysis at this time, we have not experienced a 
cybersecurity threat or incident that we believe has or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Company. 

As a g lobal organization, we are also subject to data privacy and seclU'ity laws, regulations and customer-imposed controls 
in nwnerous jurisdictions as a result of having access to and processing confidential, personal and/or sensitive data in the course 
of our business. We are required to comply with increasingly complex laws and regulations enacted to protect business and 
personal data regarding privacy, data protection and data security in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, including the European 
Union's General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR") and the Califomia Consumer Privacy Act ("CCPA") as revised and 
expanded under the California Privacy Rights Act ("CPRA"), as well as new laws governing digital technologies and 
cybersecurity and increasingly robust contractual requirements on privacy and security. Litigation, governmental investigations 
and enforcement actions can be costly and interrupt the regular operations of our business, and data breaches or violations of 
laws regarding privacy, data protection and data security can result in civil and criminal, monetary and non-monetary penalties 
and damages to our reputation, any of which may adversely affect our business and financ ial statements. The interpretation and 
enforcement of existing and new laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection and data security are continuously 
evolving and there is significant uncertainty with respect to how compliance with these laws and regulations may develop and 
the costs and complexity of furure compliance. As cybersecurity threats continue to evolve and as cybersecurity and data 
protection laws and regulations continue to develop globally, we expect to expend additional resources to continue to develop 
our compliance programs, strengthen our information security, data p rotection, disaster recovery and business continuity 
measures, and investigate and remediate vulnerabilities. 

There has been a rise in the number of cyberattacks targeting confidential business intom1ation generally and in the 
manufacruring industry specifically by both state-sponsored and criminal organizations. These may include such things as 
denial of service attacks, introduction of ransom ware or other malicious software programs, and other disruptive problems. In 
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addition, there has been a rise in the number of cyberattacks that depend on human error or manipulation, including phishing 
attacks or schemes that use social engineering to gain access to systems or perpetuate wire transfer or other frauds. Moreover, 
the rapid evolution and increased adoption of artificial intelligence technologies may intensify our cybersecurity risks. 

The Company's cybersecurity detenses may be insufficient to fully mitigate cyber risks and losses related to cybersecurity 
events, any of which may result in a material adverse etlect on the Company and its fmancial condition or results of operations. 
Moreover, until we have migrated businesses we acquire onto our IT systems or ensured compliance with our infonnation 
technology and cybersecurity standards, we have in the past and may in the future tace additional risks because or the continued 
usc of predecessor JT systems, procedures and cybcrsccurity risk mitigation measures. Given the unpredictability, nature and 
scope of cybersecurity attacks and incidents, it is possible that potential vulnerabilities could go undetected tor an extended 
period, and it could take considerable time tor the Company to obtain full and reliable information as to the extent, amount and 
type of information and/or systems compromised. Any imposition of liability, particularly liability that is not covered by 
insurance or is in excess of our insurance <:overage, could materially adversely harm our operating results and fmancial 
condition. 

Uncertainties with respect to the developrnent, deployment, and use of artificial intelligence in our business and products 
may result in harm to our business and reputation. 

We are in the initial stages of incorporating artificial intelligence ("AI") into our business activities and our product and 
service offerings. As with many innovations, AI presents risks and challenges that could adversely impact our business. The 
development, adoption, and use of AI technologies are still in their early stages and ineffective or inadequate AI development or 
deployment practices could result in unintended consequences. For example, AI algorithms may be flawed or may be based on 
datasets that are biased or insufficient. In addition, any disruption or failure in the AI functionality we have incorporated or may 
in the future incorporate into our business activities, products or services could adversely impact our business or result in delays 
or errors in our offerings. The legal and regulatory landscape surrounding AI technologies is rapidly evolving and uncertain, 
including in the areas of intellectual property, cybersecurity and privacy and data protection. Compliance with new or changing 
laws, regulations or industry standards relating to AI may impose significant costs and may limit our ability to develop, deploy 
or use AI technologies. Failure to appropriately respond to this evolving landscape may result in legal liability, regulatory 
action, or brand and reputational hann. 

Uncertainty Related to Environmental Ref(tilation, Jndust~y Standards, or Other Risks Associated with a Potential Global 
Transition to a Lower-Carbon Economy, as well as Physical Risks of Climate Change, Could Adversely Impact the Company's 
Results of Operations and Financial Position. 

Increased public awareness and concern regarding environmental risks, including global climate change and the potential 
global transition to a lower-carbon economy, may result in more intemational, regional, federal and/or state requirements o r 
industry standards to reduce or mitigate global wamling and other environmental risks. New climate change laws and 
regulations could require the Company to change its manufacturing processes or obtain sll!bstitute materials that may cost more 
or be less available for its manufacturing operations. Various jurisdictions in which the Company does business have 
implemented, or in the future could implement or amend, restrictions on emissions of carbon dioxide or other greenhouse gases, 
taxation of or caps on the use of carbon-based energy, limitations or restrictions on water use, limitations or restrictions on the 
production of single-use plastics, regulations on enerh'Y management and waste management and other rules and regulations to 
address climate change and other environmental risks, which may increase the Company's expenses and adversely affect its 
operating results. 

We also are or may become subject to increasing sustainability-related reporting requirements. In March 2024, the SEC 
adopted new rules regarding climate-related disclosures. Though these rules are cunently being challenged in legal proceedings 
and their effectiveness has been stayed by the SEC, these rules, if they become effective, would require public companies to 
make a wide range of climate-related disclos ures. Similarly, the State of California has recently enacted its own legislation 
requiring extensive climate-related disclosures for companies deemed to be doing business in California, and other states are 
considering similar laws. We are also subject to the European Union's Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive. 
Complying with such laws and regulations, which may continue to evolve, may impose substantial additional costs and require 
additional resources, including for third-party attestation to enable the capture, analysis and audit of appropriate data. Any 
a(;tual or alleged failure to comply with laws and regulations around disclosures could resull in fines, penalties and civil 
liabilities and damages to our reputation. 

In addition to changes in regulations or industry standards, a failure by the Company to innovate and adapt products to new 
markets, changing customer preferences for higher-efticiency products, or increasing scmtiny related to sustainability activities 
and greenhouse gas emissions could limit sales growth and negatively impact the Company and its financial condition, results 
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of operations and cash flow. At the same time, certain governmental representatives and other stakeholders have increasingly 
expressed or pursued opposing views, legislation and investment expectations around sustainability initiatives, including the 
enactment or proposal of "anti-ESG" legislation or policies. If our sustainability reporting and practices do not meet the 
expectations and standards of our stockholders, customers and other stakeholders, our reputation and business activities may be 
negatively impacted and our appeal to certain investors may be reduced. 

The physical risks of climate change are highly uncertain and differ in the geographic regions in which the Company 
operates. These physical risks, including wildfires, rising sea levels, floods and other extreme weather events, may impact the 
availability and cost of materials, sources and supply of energy, product demand and manufacturing and could increase 
insurance and other operating costs. Any future increased worldwide regl!.llatory activity relating to climate change could expand 
the nature, scope and complexity of matters that the Company is required to control, assess and report. If environmental laws or 
regulations or industry standards are either changed or adopted and impose significant operational restrictions and compliance 
requirements upon the Company, its suppliers, its customers or its products, or the Company's operations are disrupted due to 
physical impacts of climate change on the Company, its customers or its suppliers, the Company's business, results of 
operations and financial condition could be adversely impacted. 

Business Disruptions Due to Catastrophic Weather Events, Natural lJisasters and Public Health Threats Could Adversely 
4ffect the Company. 

The Company faces various risks related to the occtmence of catastrophic weather events or significant natural disasters, 
including earthquakes, wildfires, droughts, fires, power-outages or other catastrophic events, in areas in which we have 
manufacturing facilities or fTom which we obtain products. Severe weather conditions, including any that may be caused o r 
exacerbated by g lobal clinnate change, may cause physical damage to our properties, closure of one or more of our 
manufacturing or distribution facilities, lack of an adequate work force in a market, temporary disruption in the supply of 
inventory, disruption in the transport of products and utilities and delays in the delivery of products to our customers. 

Additionally, puhlic health threats may negatively impact the glohal economy hy causing changes in consumer hehavior, 
market downturns, restrictions on business and individual activities and increased volatility. Any widespread public health 
threats could have a significant impact on the Company's supply chain, such as the Company experienced during the global 
outbreak of the COVID-1 9 pandemic. 

To the extent that any of the foregoing adversely affect the Company and its financial results, they may also have the effect 
of heightening many of the other risks described in this Item I A, "Risk Factors" of this annual report, such as those relating to 
intemational operations, the Company's ability to develop new products, the Company's ability to execute on its growth 
strategy of acquisitions, the Company's dependency on raw materials. parts and components, the effects on movements in 
foreign currency exchange rates on the Company, the effects on the Company that result from declines in commodity prices and 
the Company's re liance on labor availability to operate and grow the business. 

Risks Related to Economic and Political Conditions 

A Slowdown in the U.S. or International Jiconomy Could Materially Adversely Affect the Sales and Profitability of the 
Company's /Jusinesses. 

In 2024, 50% of the Company's sales were derived from domestic operations and 50% were derived from international 
operations . The Company's largest end markets include industrial, energy, fire suppress.ion, water, semiconductor, food and 
pharmaceutical, life sciences, automotive, analytical instruments, paint dispensing, chemical, agriculture and rescue tools. A 
slowdown in the U.S. or global economy and, in particular, any of these specific end markets could materially reduce the 
Company's sales and profitability. 

Changes to Cieopolitical and J:."conomic Conditions in the U.S. and Foreign Countries in Which the Company Operates Could 
Adversely Affect the Company. 

The Company expects international operations and export sales to continue to be significant for the foreseeable future. The 
Company's sales from international operations and sales from export are both subject in varying degrees to risks inherent in 
doing business outside the U.S. These risks include the following: 

possibility or unfavorable circumstances arising !Tom host country laws or regulations and the risks related to required 
compliance with local laws; 
risks of economic instability, including due to inflation; 
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currency exchange rate fluctuations and restrictions on currency repatriation; 
potential negative consequences from changes to taxation policies; 
disruption of operations from labor and political disturbances; 
withdrawal from or renegotiation of international trade agreements and other restrictions on the trade between the 
United States and other countries; 
the imposition of and changes in the United States' and other governments' trade regulations, trade wars, increased or 
new tariffs and other trade barriers, including as a result or geopolitical developments (such as escalating tensions in 
the Middle East) and relations between the United States and Cllina and the United States and Russia and any changes 
arising as a result of global leadership changes, including the recent United States' presidential election; and 
geopolitical events. including natural disasters, catastrophic weather events, climate change, public health conditions, 
including epidemics, pandemics and other outbreaks (such as the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic), 
political instability or other geopolitical events, including civil or political unrest, tenorism, insurrection or war 
(including the ongoing war in Russia and Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war)_ 

Any of these events couJd have a materially adverse impact on the Company and its operations. 

Significant Movements in Foreign Currency Exchange Rates May Harm the Company's Financial Results .. 

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly with respect to the Euro, Swi:ss 
Franc, Canadian Dollar, British Pound, lndian Rupee, Chinese Renminbi, Swedish Krona, Japanese Yen and Brazilian Real. 
Any significant change in the value of the cunencies of the countries in which the Company does business against the 
U.S. Dollar could affect the Company 's ability to sell products competitively and control its cost stTucture, which could have a 
material adverse effect on results of operations. For additional detail related to this risk, see Part JJ, Item 7 A, "Quantitative and 
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk." 

Fluctuations in Interest Rates Could Adversely Affect the Company's Results of Operations and Financial Position. 

l11e Company's profitability may be adversely affected during any periods of unexpected or rapid increases in interest 
rates. The Company maintains a Credit Agreement with a revolving credit facility (the " Revolving Facility") in an aggregate 
principal amotmt of $800 million, which bears interest at either an altemate base rate or adjusted Tem1 SOFR (or appropriate 
alternative cunency reference rates) plus, in each case, an applicable margin based on the lower of the Company's senior, 
unsecured. long-term debt rating or the Company's applicable leverage ratio. A significant increase in Tenn SOFR or the other 
rates the Company has agreed to use as an altemative to Tenn SOFR (should Tenn SOFR become unavailable) under the Credit 
Agreement, as amended, would significantly increase the Company's cost of borrowings. Further, any changes in regulatory 
standards or industry practices, such as the discontinuation of the use of Term SOFR and/or the transition to alternative 
benchmark rates may result in the usage of lhigher interest rates under the Credit Agreement or Revolving Facility, and the 
Company's current or future indebtedness may be adversely affected_ The Company is also exposed to risks if the US. Federal 
Reserve raises its benchmark interest rate, which may reduce the availability of and increase the cost of obtaining new debt aod 
refmancing existing indebtedness. For additional detail related to this risk, see Part II, Item 7 A, "Quantitative and Qualitative 
Disclosures About Market Risk." 

A Significant or Sustained Decline in Cornmodity Prices, Including Oil, Could Negatively Impact the Levels of Expenditures 
by Certain of the Company 's Customers. 

Demand for the Company's products depends, in part, on the level of new and planned expenditures by certain of its 
customers. The level of expenditures by the Company's customers is dependent on, among other factors, general economic 
conditions, availability of credit, economic conditions within their respective industries and expectations of lltture market 
behavior. Volatility in commodity prices, including oil, can negatively affect the level of these activities and can result in 
postponement of capital spending decisions or the delay or cancellation of existing orders. The ability of the Company's 
customers to finance capital investment and maintenance may also be affected by the conditions in their industries. Reduced 
demand for the Company's products could result in the delay or cancellation of existing o rders or lead to excess manufacturing 
capacity, which unfavorably impacts the absorption of fixed manufacturing costs_ This reduced demand could have a material 
adverse etl'ect on the Company and its financial condition and results of operations. 

Risks Related to Legal, Accounting and Regulatory Matters 

An Unfavorable Outcome of Any Pending Contingencies or Litigation Could Adversely Ajj'ect the Company. 
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The Company and its subsidiaries are currently involved in pending and threatened legal, regulatory and other proceedings 
incidental to the operation of their businesses. These proceedings may pertain to matters. such as product liability or contract 
disputes, and may also involve governmental inquiries, inspections, audits or investigations relating to issues such as tax 
matters, intellectual property, environmental, health and safety issues, govemmental regulations, employment and other matters. 
Where it is reasonably possible to do so, the Company accmes estimates of the probable costs for the resolution of these 
matters. These estimates are developed in consultation with outside counsel and are based upon an analysis of potential results 
and the availability of insurance coverage, assuming a combination of litigation and settlement strategies. It is possible, 
however, that future operating results for any particular quarter or annual period could be materially affected by changes in 
assumptions, the continued availability of insurance coverage or the effectiveness of the Company's strategies related to these 
proceedings. For additional detail related to this risk, see Item 3, "Legal Proceedings." and Note 10, "Commitments and 
Contingencies" in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." 

Failure to Adequately Protect the Company's Intellectual Property and the Risk of Disputes Involving Intellectual Property 
infringement Could Adversely impact the Company's Competitive Position, Results of Operations, and Financial Condition. 

The Company owns patents, trademarks, licenses and other fonns of intellectual property related to its products and 
continuously invests in research and development that may result in teclmological innovations and general intellectual property 
rights. The Company employs various measures to develop, maintain and protect its intellectual property rights. Tf these 
measures are not etlective, or if the Company's intellectual property is otherwise infringed, challenged, invalidated or 
circumvented, the Company may face adverse impacts to its results of operations and/or financial condition. Further, if 
intellectual propetty is inti-inged, challenged, invalidated or circumvented, this could reduce barriers to entry into the 
Company's existing lines ofbusiness and may result in a loss of market share and adversely impact the Company's competitive 
position. Additionally, the Company has registered intellectual property in multiple countiies, and the Company's ability to 
protect and enforce its intellectual property rights may be limited in fore·ign countries due to differences in intellecntal properly 
protections or proprietary rights laws If the Company's intellectual property is infringed, challenged, invalidated or 
circumvented due to these lesser protections, the Company may face adverse impacts to its results of operations, fmancial 
condition and/or competitive position. 

Litigation may be necessary to enforce the Company's iotellecntal property rights or to defend against infringement claims 
by third parties. Any litigation or claims brought by the Company could result in costs and diversion of resources, which could 
adversely affect the Company's results of operations and/or financial condition. Any intellectual property litigation or clai.nas 
brought against the Company may lead to litigation expenses, diversion of resources, losses or licensing expenses or the 
cessation of selling certain products, any of which could adversely affect the Company's results of operations and/or financial 
condition. 

The Company's Intangible Assets, Including Goodwill, are a Significant Portion of Total Assets and a Write-c?ff'of Intangible 
Assets or Goodwill Would Adversely impact the Company's Operating Results and Sig11ijicantly Reduce /he Company's Net 
Worth. 

The Company's total assets includes substantial intangible assets, primarily goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, 
which primarily result from acquisitions. At December 31, 2024, goodwill and intangible assets totaled $3,251.7 million and 
$1,284.8 million, respectively. Annually, or when certain events occur that require a more current valuation, the Company 
assesses whether there has been an impairment in the value of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets. If future operating 
performance at one or more of the Company,s reporting units were to fall significantly below forecasted levels, the Company 
could be required to reflect, under current applicable accounting rules, a non-cash charge to operating income for an 
impairment. Any determination requiring the write-off of a significant portion of goodwill or identifiable intangible assets 
would adversely impact the Company's results of operations and net worth. See Note 6, "Goodwill and Intangible Assets" in 
Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further discussion on goodwill and intangible assets. 

The Company May Face Adverse Effects Resulting from Improper Conduct by Our Employees, Agents or Business Partners. 

While we strive to maintain high standards, the Company cannot g11arantee that our intemal controls and compliance 
systems will always protect us fi·om reckless or criminal acts committed by employees, agents or business partners of ours (or 
businesses that we acquire or partner with) that would violate laws in the U.S. or foreign countries in which the Company 
operates, including laws governing payment to government otiicials, bribery, fraud, conflicts of interest, competition, 
employment practices and workplace behavior, export and import compliiance, economic and trade sanctions, money laundering 
and data privacy. 
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In particular, recent years have seen a substantial increase in anti-bribery law enforcement activity with more frequent 
investigations and enforcement proceedings by both the Department of Justice and the SEC, increased enforcement activity by 
non-U.S. regulators and increases in criminal and civil proceedings brought against companies and individuals. The Company's 
policies mandate compliance with all anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Conupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act 
and similar anti-bribery laws in other j urisdictions which generally prohibit companies and their intennediaries from making 
improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. However, the Company operates in certain countries that 
are recognized as having governmental and commercial corruption. Violations of any of these laws may result in criminal or 
civil sanctions or penalties, both monetary and non-moneta1y, increased! costs of compliance and/or damage to our reputation, 
any ofwhich could have a material adverse efiect on the Company and its financial condition and results of operations. 

General Risk Factors 

A Failure to Retain Executive Management and Key Personnel or Recruit Adequate Successors May Adversely Affect the 
Company's Operations and Implementation of Strategy. 

The Company's future success depends to a significant degree on the skills, experience and efforts of its executive 
management and other key persom1el and their ability to provide the Company with uninterrupted leadership and direction. The 
loss of the services of any of the executive officers or other key personnel or a failure to provide adequate succession plans for 
these individuals could have an adverse impact on the Company's operations and implementation of its strategic plan. The 
availability of highly qualified talent is limited and the competition for talent is robust. 

Challenges with Respect to Labor Availability Could Negatively impact the Company's Ability to Operate or Grow the 
Business. 

The Company's success depends in part on the ability of its businesses to proactively attract, motivate and retain a qualified 
and highly skilled workforce in an intensely competitive labor market. A fai lure to attract, motivate and retain highly skilled 
personnel could adversely affect the Company's operating results or its ability to operate or grow the business. Additionally, 
any labor stoppages or labor disruptions, including due to geopolitical unrest, unfavorable economic or industry conditions, 
catastrophic weather events, naniral disasters or public health threats could adversely a(fect the Company's operating results or 
its ability to operate or grow the business. 

Item l B. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

None. 

Item lC. Cybersecurity. 

Risk Management and Strategy. 

The Company's cybersecurity program is designed to be aligned to the Cybersecurity Framework published by the 
National Institute of Standards and Technology ("NIST CSF"). While we use the NIST CSF as a guide, this does not imply that 
we meet any particular standards, specifications or requirements. We conduct regular internal and external assessments of our 
information secUiity and cybersecurity programs, including periodic external audits for company-wide compliance with our 
program as well as specific business unit alignment, as required, with U.S. federal acquisition regulations and UK Cyber 
Essentials certifications. An external penetration test is perfonned annually against the Company's network, in addition to our 
regular internal vulnerability scans. 

The Company' s intemal Incident Response Policy sets forth specific protocols for cyber or data incident detection, 
response and recovery. This process includes the assembly of a response team consisting of internal and, as required, external 
technical and legal experts upon the event of a cyberattack or incident. The Company reviews and updates this process 
regularly, including by engaging in tabletop exercises to simulate cybersecurity and data breach incidents. The Company 
mainta ins global cybersecurity insurance coverage that is reviewed amrually for adequacy against operations and information 
systems. 

The Company has implemented a number of measures to mitigate cybersecurity risk in its operations, including ammal 
cybersecurity awareness training for employees, regular internal phishing exercises, technical security contro ls, maintenance of 
certain backup and protective systems, physical and system securities measures, and data secmity protocols. Once fuUy 
integrated, all of our businesses have access to a "cyber risk dashboard" that monitors various risk indicators. The cyber risk 
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dashboard is monitored by our business units. The Company's internal auditors periodically review and audit various processes 
and controls throughout the organization related to cybersecurity readiness. 

The Company also has certain processes in place to manage cyber risks associated w ith third-party service providers which 
include var ious technical as well as contractual measures. 

For more inf01111ation on cybersecurity risks and how they aH'ect our business, operating results and ·financial condition, 
please refer to Item l A., "Risk Factors - The Company's Business Operations May Be Malerial/y Adversely Affected by 
Information Systems Inlerruptions or Intrusion, Including Lhose Arising From Cybersecurily Auacks or Incidems or Violations 
of Laws Regulating Privacy and Data Security." Based on our analysis at this time, we have not identified any risks from a 
cybersecurity threat or incident that we believe has or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Company. 

Governance, Oversight and Leadership. 

The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee oversee management's efforts to address cybersecuri ty and information 
security risks. Senior management provides the Board of Directors updates on the Company's cybersecurity program at least 
once a year, including as part of the Company's enterprise risk management assessment, and the Audit Committee reviews the 
cybersecurity program at least twice a year and on an as-needed basis. Such reviews, among other things, include the results of 
internal and/or external assessments, a review of cybersecurity govemance at the management level, and a review of the 
Company's cybersecurity program and progress toward various initiatives. 

The Company also maintains an Executive Cybersecurity Steering Conunittee (the "Cybersecurity Committee"), made up 
of key members of senior leadership, to oversee and monitor progress of various cybersecurity initiatives throughout the 
organization. The Cybersecu.rity Committee meets quarterly. In addition, the Company asks each business unit to designate an 
employee as the local Information Security Ofiicer responsible for monitoring the business unit 's cyber risk dashboard and 
coordinating with local leadership to respond to identified risks accordingly. Each local Information Security Officer completes 
an annual certification process and receives regular updates with respect to the Company's cybersecurity program. 

The Chief Information Officer ("CIO"), who reports to the Chief Financial Officer, along with members of the corporate 
and business unit information technology teams, are generally responsible for developing and managing the Company 's 
cybersecurity programs. Our CIO has over 20 years of experience in various information technology and information security 
roles, and our information security team is comprised of employees w ith broad knowledge of cybersecurity issues gained 
through experience and through training and certifications and includes our Director oflnformation Security, who has over 20 
years of experience leading and managing cybersecurity programs. These individuals, along with other internal and external 
personnel as needed, monitor the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity incidents, and applicable 
personnel are informed of known cybersecurity incidents to fonn the appropriate incident response team and respond 
accordingly. 
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Item 2. Properties. 

The Company conducts business at plants and offices that can be owned or leased and located in the U.S. or outside the 
U.S., with international square footage primarily in Germany (12%), the Netherlands (7%), India (6%), the U.K. (5%), Italy 
(3%), Canada (3%), China (2%) and Switzerland (2%) Management considers its facilities suitable and adequate for the 
Company's operations and believes it has ample capacity in its plants and equipment to meet demand increases for future 
growth in the intennediate tenn, especially given its operational improvement initiatives that usually increase capacity. 

A summary of propet1ies used by the Company's operations as of December 31 , 2024 are shown in the followi11g table: 

Fluid & Metering Technologies 

Health & Science Technologies 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 

Other0 ) 

Total 

Tota l Domestic 

1.8 

2.4 

1.1 

0.4 

5.7 

Squar·e footage (in millions) 

Location Owned/Leased 

Interna tiona.l Owned Leased 

1.4 0.4 1.1 

l.2 1.2 0.6 

0.6 0 .5 l.O 
0.1 0.3 0.3 

3.3 2.4 3.0 

0.7 

l.8 

OJ 
0.1 

2.7 

(I) Other includes shared service locations as well as the Company's executive office, which occupies 40,261 square feet of 
leased space in Northbrook, Illinois and 16,268 square feet of leased space in Chicago, Illinois. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 

The Company and its subsidiaries are party to legal proceedings incidental to the operation of their businesses as described 
in Note I 0 in Part TI, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," and such disclosure is incorporated by reference 
into this Item 3, "Legal Proceedings." 

The Company's threshold for disclosing material environmental legal proceedings involving a government authority where 
potential moneta1y sanctions are involved is $1 .0 million. 

In add ition, the Company and eight of its subsidiaries are presently named as defendants in a number of lawsuits claiming 
various asbestos-related personal injuries, allegedly as a result of exposure to products manufactured with components that 
contained asbestos. These components were acquired from third party suppliers and were not manufactured by the Company or 
any of the defendant subsidiaries. To date, the majority of the Company's settlements and legal costs, except for costs of 
coordination, administration, insurance investigation and a portion of defense costs, have been covered in full by insurance, 
subject to applicable deductibles. However, the Company cannot predict whether and to what extent insurance will be available 
to continue to cover these settlements and legal costs, or how insurers may respond to claims that are tendered to them. 
Asbestos-related claims have been filed in jurisdictions throughout the United States and the United Kingdom. Most of the 
claims resolved to date have been dismissed without payment. The balance of the claims have been settled for various 
immaterial amounts. Only one case has been tried, resulting in a verdict for the Company's business unit No provision has 
been made in the financial statements of the Company, other than for insurance deductiibles in the ordinary course, and the 
Company does not currently believe the asbestos-related claims will have a material adverse etTect on the Company's business, 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

Item 4. M ine Safety Disclosures. 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities. 

The Company's common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "lEX". As of Febmary 14, 
2025, there were approximately 7,285 stockholders of record of the Company's common stock and there were 
75,784,04 7 shares outstanding. 

The Company's payment of dividends in the future will be determined by the Board of Directors and will depend on 
business conditions, earnings and other factors. 

For in formation pertaining to securities a1rthorized for issuance under equity compensation plans and the related weighted 
average exercise price, see Part Ill, Item 12, "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related 
Stockholder Matters." 

On March 17, 2020, the Company's Board of Directors approved an increase of $500.0 million in the authorized level of 
repurchases of common stock. This approval is in addition to the prior repurchase authorization of the Board of Directors of 
$300.0 million on December I, 2015. These authorizations have no expiration date . 

The Company did not repurchase any co1mnon stock during the quarter ended December 31, 2024. As of December 31 , 
2024, the amount of share repurchase authorization remaining was $539.7 million. 

October I , 2024 to October 31, 2024 

November 1, 2024 to November 30, 2024 

December 1, 2024 to December 3 1, 2024 

Total 

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased 

24 

$ 

Average Price 
Paid per· Shar·e 

Total Number· of 
Shares Pur·chased as 

Part of Publicly 
Announced Plans 

or· Programs 

Maximum Dollar· 
Value that May Yet 
be Put·chased Under 

the Plans 

$ 

$ 

or Pr·ograms 

539,689,117 

539,689,117 

539,689,11 7 

539,689,11 7 



Pe1jormance (Jraph 

The following table compares total stockholder returns over the last five years to the Standard & Poor' s (the "S&P") 500 
Index, the S&P Midcap 400 Industrials Sector Index and the Russell 2000 Index assuming the value of the investment in the 
Company's common stock and each index was $100 on December 31, 2019. Total retum values for the Company' s co1mnon 
stock, the S&P 500 Index, S&P Midcap 400 Industrials Sector Index and the Russell2000 Index were calculated on cumulative 
total return values assuming reinvestment of dividends. The stockholder return shown on the graph below is not necessarily 
indicative of future perfonnance. 

-+- IDEX Corporation --+-- S&P Midcap 400 Indust rials Sector Index 

250 

225 

200 

~ 175 
<( 
...J 
....J 

8 150 

125 

100 

75 

IDEX Corporation 

S&P 500 Index 

12/19 12/20 

$ 

$ 

S&P Midcap 400 industrials Sector index $ 

Russell 2000 Index $ 

12/21 

12/19 

100.00 $ 

100.00 $ 

100.00 $ 

100.00 $ 

___._ S&P 500 Index 
____._ Russell 2000 Index 

12/22 12/23 

12/20 12/21 12/22 

117.20 $ 140.41 $ 137.28 

118.40 $ 152.39 $ 124.79 

116.49 $ 149.62 $ 132.42 

119.96 $ 137 74 $ 109.59 

12/24 

12/23 12124 

$ 132.08 $ 128.96 

$ 157.59 $ 197.02 

$ 174.04 $ 197.51 

$ 12814 $ 142.93 

The information contained in this Performance Graph section shallll!ot be deemed to be "soliciting material" or "filed" with 
the SEC, nor shall such infonnation be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Item 6. (R eserved] 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company's Consolidated Financial 
Statements and related notes in this annual report. This discussion may contain forward-looking statements based upon current 
expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. The Company's actua I results and the timing of selected events could differ 
materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of several factors, including those set forlh 
under Item IA, "Risk Factors" and under the heading "Cautionmy Statetnent Under the Private Securities Litigation Refornl 
Act" discussed elsewhere in this annual reporl. 

This discussion includes certain J'IOn-(jAAP financial measures that have been d~flned and reconciled to their most directly 
comparable financial measure prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America ("U.S. (jAAP") under the headings "Non-(jAAP Disclosures" and "Free Cash Flow." This discussion also includes 
Operating working capital which has been defined under the heading "Liquidity and Capilal Resources. " The non-(jAAP 
financial measures disclosed by the Company should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures 
prepared in accordance with U.S. (jAAP. The financial results prepared in accordance with U.S. (jAAP and the reconciliations 
fi"om these results should be carefully evaluated. 

Overview 

IDEX is an applied solutions provider specializing in the manufacturing of fluid and metering tecllllologies, health and 
science technologies and fire, safety and other diversified products built to customers' specifications. IDEX's products are sold 
in niche markets across a wide range of industries throughout the world. Accordingly, IDEX's businesses at-e affected by levels 
of industtial activity and economic conditions in the U.S. and in other countries where it does business, as well as by the 
relationship of the U.S. dollar to other currencies. Levels of capacity utilization and capital spending in certain markets and 
overall industrial activity are in1portant factors that influence the demand for IDEX's products. 

2024 Highlights 
(All comparisons are against 2023 unless otherwise noted) 

• 
• 

• 

Net sales of$3,268.8 million, flat overall and down 2% organically* 

Diluted earnings per common share ("EPS") att ributable to !VEX of$6.64, down 15% 
Adjusted diluted EPS attributable to JOEX* of$7.89, down 4% 

Operating cash flow of $668.1 million, down 7%, was 132% of net income, up from 120% 

Free cash flow* of$603.0 million, down 4%, was IOI% of adjusted net income*, flat with prior year 

Completed acquisition of Mott Corporation and its subsidiaries ("Mott") on September 5, 2024 for cash consideration 

of $986.2 million, net of cash acquired, using a combination of $211.9 million of cash on hand and $774.3 million of 

debt 
Completed a public otlering of$500 million principal amount of 4.950% Senior Notes, due September 2029, as part of 
the ti.mding tor the acquisition ofMott 

*These are non-GAAP measures. See the definitions of these non-GAAP measures and reconciliations to their most directly comparable U.S. GAAP tinancial 
measures under the headings "Non-GAAP Disclosures" and "Free Cash Flow." 

During 2024, the Company delivered solid execution amid uncerta in macro conditions and continued to deploy capital 
focused on growth initiatives, including completing the acquisition ofMott, which is the Company's largest acquisition to date. 
Net sales reflects the benefit of acquisitions, net of divestitures, and growth in our FSDP segment, which together mostly offset 
the impact oflower volumes from continued market softness in our HST segment; FMT segment net sales were tlat organically. 
Despite market choppiness, our businesses achieved strong productivity through both net price capture and operational 
excellence and delivered reported and adjusted diluted earnings per share of $6.64 and $7.89, respectively. We delivered 
operating cash flow of $668. I million, which was I32% of net income, and achieved free cash flow conversion of I 0 I% of 
adjusted net income. 

2025 Outl()Ok 

Moving into 2025, the majority of our end markets are stable. Our businesses are well-positioned to capitalize on secular 
growth trends that we expect will emerge fo llowing this current period of near-term uncertainly surrounding U.S. trade and 
economic policy and overall high levels of geopolitical tension. 
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Within HST, we expect growth driven by demand for new disease therapies and nutrition, global communication sate IIi te 
network expansion, and energy consumption tied to datacenters. We expect modest growth from key end markets in life science 
fluidics and optical filters while semiconductor will remain delayed until the second half of the year. Separately, our FMT 
segment expects its largest area of growth to come from its water businesses while core industrial markets are expected to 
remain stable. Contributions from these spaces are expected to be tempered by pressured demand in energy and agriculture 
markets, which are experiencing the most exposure to market cyclicality. Finally, we expect FSDP segment growth will 
continue to be driven by our fire and safety businesses as North America original equipment manufacn1rers continue to recover 
and our integrated systems offerings have increased our content per firetruck. 

Results of Operations 

The following is a discussion and analysjs of the Company's results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 
compared with the year ended December 3 1, 2023. For the discussion related to the consolidated results of operations for the 
year ended December 31, 2023 compared with the year ended December 31, 2022, refer to the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 1 0-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, which was tiled with the SEC on February 22, 2024. 

Year Ended Oecembet· 31, Change 

(In millions, except pet· share amounts) 2024 2023 $ % / bps 

Domestic sales $ 1,618.1 $ 1,638.7 $ (20.6) (1%) 

International sales 1,650.7 1,635.2 15.5 1% 

Net sales 3,268.8 3,273.9 (5.1) -% 

Cost of sales 1,823.6 1,827.0 (3.4) -% 

Gross profit 1,445.2 1,446.9 (1.7) -% 

Gross margin 44.2% 44.2% nla Obps 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 758.7 703.5 55.2 8% 

Restructuring expenses and asset impairments 9.3 10.9 (1.6) (15%) 

Operating income 677.2 732.5 (55.3) (8%) 

Gain on sale of businesses - net (4.0) (84.7) 80.7 (95%) 

Other (income) expense- net (2.6) 5.2 (7.8) (150%) 

Interest expense - net 44.5 51.7 (7.2) (14%) 

Income before income taxes 639.3 760.3 (12 1.0) (16%) 

Provision for income taxes 134.7 164.7 (30.0) (18%) 

Effective tax rate 21.1% 21.7% n/a (60) bps 

Net income attributable to IDEX $ 505.0 $ 596.1 $ (91.1) (15% ) 

Diluted earnings per common share attributable to IDEX $ 6.64 $ 7.85 $ (1.21) (15%) 

Net Sales 

Net sales were relatively flat compared to the prior year, reflecting a 2% increase in acquisitions, net of divestitures, offs·et 
by a 2% decrease in organic net sales. The decrease in organic net sales was dtiven by lower volumes as a result of unfavorable 
market conditions, primarily in the Health & Science Technologies segment, partially offset by price capn1re across a ll 
segments. 

Gross Profit and Gross Margin 

Gross protit and Gross margin were positively impacted by strong price/cost and were negatively impacted by higher 
employee-related costs and unfavorable mix. Additionally, Gross profit was positively impacted by the net accretive impact of 
acquisitions and divestin1res, which was more than offset by lower volumes. 

Selling, General am/ Administrative Expenses 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased primarily due to the $31 . 1 million impact 11-0Jn acqws1t1ons, 
including amortization, net of divestitures, as well as higher employee-related costs and ~ncreased discretionary spending and 
transaction expenses. 
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Restructuring Expenses and Asset Impairments 

Restmcturing expenses and asset impairments decreased primarily due to lower severance costs. Severance costs dtuing 
both periods were incurred in conjunction with cost mitigation efforts as a result of market conditions. 

Gain on Sale of Businesses- Net 

In 2024, the Company completed the sale of Alfa Valvole, Sri ("Alfa Valvole") for proceeds of$45.1 million, net of cash 
remiHed, resulting in a gain on the sale of $4.0 million, net of a release of cumulative foreign currency translation losses of 
$5.5 million. Jn 2023, the Company completed the sale of Micropump, Inc. ("Micropump") for proceeds of $ 110.3 million, net 
of cash remitted, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of $93.8 million, and the sale ofNovotema, SpA ("Novotema") for proceeds 
of $8.3 million, net of cash remitted, which resulted in a loss of $9.1 million. For additional information, refer to Note 2, 
"Acquisitions and Divestitures," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Other (Income) Expense - net 

Other (income) expense - net was $2.6 million of income in 2024 compared to $5.2 million of expense in 2023. The 
change was primarily due to the absence of a $7.7 million credit loss reserve on an investment with a collaborative partner (see 
Note 3, "Collaborative Investments," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for fi.lfther detail) in 2023 that did not 
reoccur in 2024. 

Interest Expense - Net 

Interest expense - net decreased primarily due to higher interest earned on cash balances in 2024, partially offset by 
incremental interest expense in 2024, including the impact of higher debt outstanding to finance the acquisition of Mott. 

Income Taxes 

The 2024 effective tax rate was 21.1% as compared with the 2023 etTective tax rate of 21.7%. One-time discrete tax 
benefits lowered the effective tax rate in 2024 and 2023. For additional infom1ation, refer to Note 12, "Income Taxes," in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

In October 2021, members of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD") and 020 Inclusive 
Framework on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting agreed to a two-pillar solution to address the tax challenges associated with the 
digitalization of the economy. Tn December 2021, the OECD released the Pillar Two Model Rules ("Pillar Two"), which define 
the global minimum tax and call for the taxation of large corporations at a minimum rate of 15%. While it is uncertain whether 
the United States will enact legislation to adopt Pillar Two, certain countries in which we operate have enacted legislation, and 
other countries are in the process of introduc ing draft: legislation to implement the minimum tax directive. Many aspects of 
Pillar Two became effective January 1, 2025; however, nearly all of the j urisdictions in which JDEX operates have an effective 
tax rate above the 15% threshold. The Company does not expect a material impact from the Pillar Two income tax rules. We 
are continuing to monitor legislative developments and evaluate financial results for changes in the expected impact. 

Results of Reportable Business Segments 

The Company has tluee reportable segments: FMT, HST and FSOP. For a detailed description of the operations with1n 
each segment, please refer to Part I , Item l , "Business" of this Annual Report on Fonn 10-K. 

Management's measurements of segment pertormance are Net sales, adjusted earnings betore interest, income taxes, 
depreciation and amortization ("Adjusted EJ::HTDA") and Adjusted EJ:HTDA margin. 
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Fluid & Metering Technologies Segment 

Yea•· Ended Dece mber 31, 

(In millions) 2024 2023 Cha nge 

Domestic sales $ 693.1 $ 695.7 -% 

international sales 540. 1 551.4 (2%) 

Net sales $ 1,2112 $ 1,247.1 (I%) 

Adjusted £BlTDA 406.3 416.1 (2%) 

Adjusted EBIIDA margin 32.9% 33.4% (50) bps 

( I ) Divestitures included Alfa Valvole, sold in June 2024. 

Organic 

-% 
(l%) 

(40) bps 

Components of Change 

Acq!Div(l) 

( I%) 

(1%) 

-bps 

Fo•·eign 
Currency 

-% 

-% 
( 10) bps 

Total 

(1%) 

(2%) 

(50) bps 

Organic net sales were positively impacted by price capture and targeted growth initiatives, which were otlSet by 
lower volumes, driven primarily by softness in agriculture and! energy markets. Strength in municipal water markets 
was muted by softness in the semiconductor capital construction market within our water business. 
Adjusted EBITDA margin decreased primarily due to higher employee-related costs, higher discretionary spending 
and unfavorable mix, partially otlset by strong price/cost and favorable operational productivity, net of lower volume 
leverage. 

Health & Science l"echnologies Segment 

Yea•· E nded Decem be•· 31, 

(J n 1niHions) 2024 2023 Cban~e 

Domestic sales $ 573.7 $ 575.5 -% 

International sales 724.4 740.9 (2%) 

Net sales $ 1,298. 1 $1,316.4 (1%) 

Adjusted EBITDA 346.8 359.5 (4%) 

Adjusted EI::HTDA margin 26.7% 27.3% (60) bps 

Or~anic 

(7%) 

(10%) 

(70) bps 

Components of Change 

Foreign 
Acq/Div(ll Currency 

6% 

6% 

10 bps 

-% 
-% 

-bps 

Total 

(1%) 

(4%) 

(60) bps 

( I) Acquisitions included Iridian Spectral Technologies acquired in May 2023, STC Material Solutions acquired 1n 
December 2023 and Mott acquired in September 2024. Divestitures included Micropump sold in Aug11st 2023 and 
Novotema sold in December 2023. 

Organic net sales were negatively impacted by cyclical market softness in the life sciences and semiconductor markets. 
l11is decrease was partially otl"set by price capture across the segment and targeted growth initiatives within the 
aerospace/defense market. 
Excluding the net accretive impact of acquisitions and divestinn·es, Adjusted EBITDA margin decreased primarily due 
to higher employee-related costs and unfavorable mix, partially otlset by price/cost, lower discretionary spending and 
favorable operational productivity, net of lower volume leverage. 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products Segment 

Year E nded December 31, 

(In millions) 2024 2023 Change 

Domestic sales $ 354.9 $ 371.9 (5%) 

International sales 389.4 346.9 12% 

Net sales $ 744.3 $ 7 18.8 4% 

Adjusted EBlTDA 214.2 208.6 3% 

Adjusted EBITDA margin 28.8% 29.0% (20) bps 

O•·ganic 

4% 

3% 

(20) bps 

Components of C hange 

Acq/Div 

-% 
-% 

-bps 

Fo•·eigo 
CnJTcncy 

-% 
-% 

-bps 

Total 

4% 

3% 

(20) bps 

Organic net sales were positively impacted by strong targeted growth initiatives, continued recovery in fire original 
equipment manufacturer markets and price capture. These increases were pat1ially offset by unfavorable mix due to the 
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cyclical nature of project sales in our North American dispensing business and softer demand in automotive and 
industrial markets. 
The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA margin was primarily due to higher employee-related costs and unfavorable mix, 
partially otlset by price/cost 

Liquidity and Capital Reso urces 

Liquidity 

Based on management's current expectations and currently available information, the Company believes current cash, cash 
Ji"OLn operations and cash available under the Revolving Facility will be sufficient to meet its operating cash requirements, 
planned capital expenditures, interest and principal payments on all bonowings, pension and postretirement f1mding 
requirements, share repurchases and quarterly dividend payments to holders of the Company's common stock for the 
foreseeable future. Additionally, in the event that suitable businesses are available for acquisition upon acceptable tenns, the 
Company may obtain all or a portion of the financing for these acquisitions through the incurrence of additional bon·owings. 
The Company believes that additional borrowings tlu·ough various financing alternatives remain available, ifrequired. 

Molt was acquired during the third quarter of 2024 for cash consideration of $986.2 million, net of cash acquired of 
$3.1 million. The acquisition was funded using a combination of cash on hand of $211.9 million, borrowings under the 
Company's Revolving Facility of $279.3 million, and the net proceeds of $495.0 million from the issuance of the 4.950% 
Senior Notes. For additional information regarding the borrowings under the Company' s Revolving Facility and the 4.950% 
Senior Notes, refer to Note 7, "Borrowings," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Select key liquidity metrics at December 31, 2024 are as follows: 

(In millions) 

Working capital 

Current ratio 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash held outside of the United States 

Revolving Facility capacity 

Borrowings 

Letters of credit 

Revolving Facility availability 

Operating Working Capital 

December 31, 2024 

$ 963.0 

2.5 to 1 

$ 620.8 

462.7 

$ 800.0 

269.8 

2.8 

$ 527.4 

Operating working capital, calculated as Receivables - net plus Inventories - net minus Trade accounts payable, is used by 
management as a measurement of operational results as well as the short-term liquidity of the Company. The following table 
details Operating working capital as ofDecember 31 , 2024 and 2023: 

(In millions) December 31, 2024 Dcccmbel· 31, 2023 Cbani(C Organic Change 

Receivables - net $ 465.9 $ 427.8 $ 38.1 $ 17.0 

Inventories - net 429.7 420.8 8.9 (17.7) 

Less: Trade accounts payable 197.8 179.7 18.1 8.4 

Operating working capital $ 697.8 $ 668.9 $ 28.9 $ (9.1) 

Operating working capital increased $28.9 million to $697.8 mill ion at December 31 , 2024. Acquisitions, divestinn·es and 
foreign Clllrrency translation increased Operating working capital by $38.0 million during 2024. Apart from these items, 
receivables increased due to strong price capture, which more than offset the impact of lower volumes; inventories decreased 
with lower volumes and targeted actions to lower inventOiy levels; and accounts payable increased as a result of timing of 
payments for inventory purchases. 
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Cllsh Flow Summllry 

The following table is derived from the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows: 

(In millions) 

Net cash flows provided by (used in): 

Operating activities 

investing activities 

Financing activities 

Operating Activities 

$ 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 

668. 1 $ 

(1,006.5) 

465.9 

2023 

716.7 $ 

(283.8) 

(344.7) 

Change 

(48.6) 

(722.7) 

810.6 

Cash .flows provided by operating activities decreased $48.6 million to $668.1 million in 2024 primarily due to lower 
earnings and the timing of customer deposits and project deliveries as well as larger inventory reductions in the prior year 
period. Lower cash payments in 2024 compared to the prior year, including payments for taxes, variable compensation and 
interest, partially mitigated these items. 

Investing Activities 

Cash flows used in investing activities increased $722.7 million in 2024. The net impact of acquisitions and divestitures 
increased cash used in investing activities by $746.2 million during 2024 as compared to 2023, primarily related to the 
acquisition of Mott in 2024. This increase in cash outflows was partially offset by lower capital expenditures, which decreased 
cash used in investing activities by $24.8 million, as compared to 2023. For additional information on the Company's 
acquisition and divestitures, refer to Note 2, "Acquisitions and Divestitures," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Financing Activities 

Cash flows provided by financing activities increased $810.6 million in 2024 primarily due to $774.3 million of net 
proceeds in connection with the financing of the acquisition ofMott in 2024, as compared with $100.0 million of net proceeds 
from borrowings in 2023. Additionally, repayments oflong-term borrowings and revolving credit facilities were $ 130.9 million 
lower in 2024, and share repurchases were lower by $24.2 million in 2024, which were partly offset by higher dividends paid to 
shareholders, which increased $14.6 million in 2024. 

Free Cllsh Flow 

The Company believes free cash flow, a non-GAAP measure, is an important measure of performance because it provides a 
measurement of cash generated from operations that is available for payment obligations such as operating cash requirements, 
planned capital expenditures, interest and principal payments on all borrowings, pension and postretirement funding 
requirements and quatterly dividend payments to holders of the Company's common stock as well as for funding acquisitions 
and share repurchases. Free cash tlow is calculated as cash flows provided by operating activities less capital expenditures. Free 
cash flow conversion is calculated as free cash flow divided by adjusted net income attributable to IDEX. 

The following table reconciles cash tlows provided by operating activities to free cash tlow: 

Year Ended December 31, 

(In millions) 

Cash flows provided by operating activities 

Less: capital expenditures 

Free cash tlow 

Reported net income attributable to IDEX 

Adjusted net income attributable to WEX 

Operating cash now as a percent of net income 

Free cash flow conversion 

2024 

$ 

$ 

$ 
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2023 

668.1 $ 

65.1 

603.0 $ 

505.0 $ 

598.5 

132% 

101% 

716.7 

89.9 

626.8 

596.1 

623.6 

120% 

101% 



Cash Requirements 

Contractual Obligations 

The Company's cash requirements under contractual obligations include: 
Borrowings and related interest - See Note 7, "Borrowings," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for 
further detail of the Company's debt and timing of expected future principal payments. 
Rental payments for leases - See Not-e 9, "Leases," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail 
of our obligations and the timing of expected future payments. 
Purchase obligations - The Company enters into purchase orders with vendors and other parties in the ordinary course 
of business. As of December 31 , 2024, the Company's purchase obligations, consisting primarily of inventory 
commitments, totaled approximately $296.8 million, of which $271 .1 million is expected to be settled during 2025 and 
the remainder thereafter. 
Pension and post-retirement medical benefit plans- See Note 17, "Retirement Benefits," in the Notes to Consolidated 
Financ ial Statements for further detail of our obligations and the timing of expected future payments. 

Subsequent Borrowings Activity 

During January 2025, the Company repaid $30.2 million of the $269.8 million outstanding under the Revolving Facility at 
December 3 1, 2024. 

Capitall!.Xpenditures 

Capital expenditures generally include machinery and equipment that suppo11 growth and improved productivity, tooling, 
business system technology, replacement of equipment and investments in new facihties. The Company believes it has 
sufficient operating cash flows to continue to meet current obligations and invest in planned capital expenditures. Cash flows 
fi·om operations were more than adequate to fund capital expenditures of $65 .1 million and $89.9 million in 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 

Share Repurchases 

There were no share repurchases in 2024. The Company repurchased 124,600 shares at a cost of $24.2 million in 2023. As 
of December 31,2024, the amount of share repurchase authorization remaining was $539.7 million. During February 2025, the 
Company repurchased a total of256,159 shares at a cost of$50.0 million. For additional information regarding the Company 's 
share repUI·chase program, re fer to Note I I, "Share Repurchases," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Divillemls 

The Company increased its qua11erly cash dividend by 8% ti·om $0.64 per common share in 2023 to $0.69 per common 
share in 2024. Total dividend payments to common shareholders were $205.3 million in 2024 compared with $190.7 million in 
2023. 

Covenants 

The key financial covenants that the Company is required to maintain in connection with the Revolving Facility, the 3.37% 
Senior Notes and the 5.1 3% Senior Notes, are a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.0 to I and a maximum leverage ratio of 
3.50 to I . At December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance wit!h both of these financial covenants, as the Company's 
interest coverage ratio was 16.09 to I tor covenant calculation purposes and the leverage ratio was 2.20 to I. There are no 
fmancial covenants relating to the 2.625% Senior Notes, the 3.00% Senior Notes and the 4.950% Senior Notes (each defmed in 
Note 7, "Bonowings"); however, all are subject to cross-acceleration provisions. For a dis.cussion of the Company's Revolving 
Facility, Term facility and Senior Notes as well as the associated covenants, reter to Note 7, "Bon·owings," in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Credit Ratings 

The Company's credit ratings, which were independently developed by the following credit agencies, are detailed below: 

• S&P Global Ratings reaftinned the Company's corporate credit rating ofBBB (stable outlook) in September 2024. 

• Moody's Investors Service affirmed the Company's corporate credit rating ofBaa2 (stable outlook) in August 2024. 
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• Fitch Ratings reaffinned the Company's corporate credit rating ofBBB+ (stable outlook) in June 2024. 

Ojj:Balattce Sheet Arrangements 

The Company had $38.1 million of letters of credit as of December 31 , 2024, primatily issued as security for insurance and 
other performance obligations. Of the $38.1 miUion of letters of credit, only $2.8 million reduced the Company's borrowing 
capacity under the Revolving Facility as of December 3 1, 2024. The Company has restricted cash of $ 18.1 million as of 
December 31 , 2024, which represents cash held as collateral for standby letters of credit issued by Mott and is required to keep 
the balance in a separate account for the duration of the letters of credit. 

Except as disclosed above, the Company ·has no off-balance sheet arrangements that currently have or are reasonably likely 
to have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial condition, changes in financial condition, results of 
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

The Company believes that the application of the following accounting policy, which is impo11ant to its financial position 
and results of operations, requires significant judgments and estimates on the part of management. For a summary of the 
Company's accounting policies, including the accounting policy discussed below, see Note I, "Significant Accounting 
Policies," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets- Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives, which consists 
solely of trade names, are not amortized; rather they are tes ted for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if events o r 
circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. The Company follows the guidance prescribed in Accounting Standards 
Codification ("ASC") 350, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, to test goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for 
impairment. In assessing goodwill for impainnent, the Company determines the fair value of each reporting unit utilizing an 
income approach (discounted cash flows) weighted 50% and a market approach (consisting of a comparable public company 
multiples methodology) weighted 50%. To detennine the reasonableness of the calculated fair values, the Company reviews the 
assumptions to ensure that neither the income approach nor the market approach yielded significantly different valuations. Key 
assumptions and estimates used in the goodwill impai1ment assessment are described below. Based on the results of the 
Company's annual impairment test at October 31 , 2024, all reporting units had fair values substantially in excess of their 
carrying values. 

The key assumptions are updated every year for each reporting unit for the income and market approaches used to 
determine the fa ir value. Various assumptions are utilized including forecasted operat ing results, annual operating plans, 
strategic plans, economic projections, anticipated future cash flows, the weighted average cost of capital, market data and 
market multiples. The assumptions that have the most significant effect on the fair value calculations are the weighted average 
cost of capital, market multiples, forecasted cash tlows and terminal growth rates. The following assumption ranges were 
utilized by the Company in 2024 and 2023: 

Assumptions 

Weighted average cost of capital 

Market mlllltiples 

Terminal growth rates 

2024 
Range 

9.25% to 9.75% 

1 2.0x to 19.0x 

3.0% to 3.5% 

2023 
Range 

10.00% to 12.25% 

W.Ox to 20.0x 

3.0% to 3.5% 

In assessing trade names for impairment, the Company uses the relief-from-royalty method, a fom1 of the income 
approach, to determine the fair value of its trade names. The relief-from-royalty method is dependent on a number of significant 
management assumptions, including estimates of revenues, royalty rates and discount rates. Based on the results of the 
Company's annual impairment test at October 31, 2024, the trade names had fair values in excess of their carrying values. 

The Company's acquis itions have generally included significant goodwill components and the Company expects to 
continue to make acquisitions. At December 31, 2024, goodwill and other indefrnite-lived intangible assets totaled $3,342.6 
million, or 50%, of the Company's total assets. 

See Note 6, "Goodwill and Intangible Assets," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on 
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. 
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Non-GAAP Disclosures 

Set forth below are reconciliations of Organic net sales, Adjusted gross profit, Adjusted gross margin, Adjusted net income 
attributable to IDEX, Adjusted diluted EPS attributable to IDEX, Consolidated Adjusted earnings before interest, income taxes, 
depreciation and amortization ("Adjusted EBJTDA") and Consolidated Adjusted EBJTDA margin to their respective most 
directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure. Management uses these metrics to measure performance of the Company since they 
exclude items that are not reflective of ongoing operations, as identified in the reconciliations below. Management also 
supplements its U.S. GAAP financial statements with adjusted information to provide investors with greater insight, 
transparency and a more comprehensive understanding of the information used by management in its financial and operational 
decision making. 

Management uses Adjusted EBITDA as its measure of segment performance, and believes it is a useful indicator of the 
strength aod performance of the Company and its segments' ongoing business operations, as well as a way for investors to 
evaluate and compare operating performance and value companies within the Company's indust1y. Management believes that 
Adjusted EBITDA margin is useful for the same reason as Adjusted EBITDA. The definition of Adjusted EBITDA used here 
may di fter from that used by other companies. 

Tllis report also references free cash flow and free cash flow conversion. These non-GAAP measures are discussed and 
reconciled to their most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure in the section above titled "free Cash Flow." 

The non-GAAP financial measures disclosed by the Company should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, 
fmancial measures prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this and other 
documents may not add up or recalculate precisely. The financial results prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and the 
reconciliations ll"01n these results should be carefully evaluated. 

All table tootnotes can be tound at the end ofthis Non-GAAP Disclosures section. 

1. Reconciliations of the Change in Net Sa les to Organic Net Sales 

For· the Yea.-s Ended Decem her· 31, 

2024 2023 

FMT HST FSDP IDEX fMT HST FSDP IDEX 

Change in net sales (1%) (I%) 4% -% 7% (2%) 6% 3% 

Less: 

Net impact from acquisitions/divestitures(!> (1%) 6% -% 2% 2% 9% -% 5% 

Impact from foreign cmTency<2> -% -% -% -% -% -% -% -% 

Impact from the exit of a COVID-19 testing 
application<3> -% -% -% -% -% (!%) -% (!%) 

Change in organic net sales - % ~7%2 4% ~2%2 5% ~ 10%2 6% ~1%2 

2. Reconciliations of R eported-to-Adjusted G ross Protit and Gross Margin (in millions) 

for the Years Ended December 31, 

Gross profit 

Fair value inventoty step-up charges 

Adjusted gross profit 

Net sales 

Gross margin 

Adjusted gross margin 

$ 

$ 

$ 
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2024 

1,445.2 

9.6 

1,454.8 

3,268.8 

44.2% 

44.5% 

2023 

$ 1,446.9 

1.6 

$ 1,448.5 

$ 3,273.9 

44.2% 

44.2% 



3. ReconciJiations of Repor ted-to-Adjusted Net Income Attributable to IDEX and Diluted EPS Attributable to IDEX 
(in millions, except per share amounts) 

For· the Years E nded Dcc<'mber· 3 1, 

2024 2023 

Reported net income attributable to IDEX $ 505.0 $ 596. 1 

Fair value inventory step-up charges 9.6 1.6 

Tax impact on lair value inventory step-up charges (2.0) (0.4) 

Restructuring expenses and asset impaim1ents 9.3 10.9 

Tax impact on restructuring expenses and asset impairments (2.2) (2.5) 

Gain on sale of businesses - net (4.0) (84.7) 

Tax impact on gain on sale of businesses - net 22.7 

Credit loss on note receivable l'i·om collaborat ive partne1~4l 7.7 

Tax impact on credit loss on note receivable fi·om collaborative partner (1.6) 

Acquisition-related intangible asset amortization 107.1 94.9 

Tax impact on acquisition-related intangible asset amortization (24.3) (21. I) 

Adjusted net income attributable to IDEX $ 598.5 $ 623.6 

Reported d iluted EPS attributable to IIJEX $ 6.64 $ 7.85 

Fair value inventory step-up charges 0.13 0.02 

Tax impact on fair value inventory step-up charges (0.02) 

Restructuring expenses and asset impainnents 0.12 0.15 

Tax impact on restructuring expenses and asset impairments (0.03) (0.03) 

Gain on sale of businesses - net (0.05) (I. I 2) 

Tax impact on gain on sale of businesses- net 0.30 

Credit loss on note receivable from collaborative partnel4l 0.10 

Tax impact on credit loss on note receivable from collaborative partner (0.02) 

Acquisition-related intangible asset amortization 1.41 1.25 

Tax impact on acquisition-related intangible asset amortization (0.31) (0.28) 

Adjusted diluted EPS attributable to IDEX $ 7.89 $ 8.22 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 75.9 75.9 
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4. Reconciliations of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA (in millions) 

Reported net income 

Provision tor income taxes 

Interest expense- net 

Gain on sale of businesses - net 

Depreciation 

Amortization 

Fair value inventory step-up charges 

Restructuring expenses and asset impairments 

Credit loss on note receivable from collaborative partner<4> 

$ 

For· the Years E nded December· 31, 

2024 2023 

504.6 $ 595.6 

134.7 164.7 

44.5 51.7 

(4.0) (84.7) 

68.5 57.2 

107.1 94.9 

9.6 1.6 

9.3 10.9 

7.7 

Adjusted EI:HTDA =$======== ========= 874.3 $ 899.6 

Adjusted EBlTDA Components 

FMT $ 

HST 

FSDP 

Corporate and other 

Total Adjusted EBlTDA 

Net sales 

Net income margin 

Adjusted EBITDA margin 

$ 

$ 

406.3 

346.8 

214.2 

(93.0) 

874.3 

3,268.8 

15.4% 

26.7% 

$ 416.1 

359.5 

208.6 

(84.6) 

$ 899.6 

$ 3,273.9 

18.2 % 

27.5 % 

( t ) Represents the sales from acquired or divested businesses during the first 12 months of ownership or prior to divestiture. 
(
2
) The portion of sales attributable to foreign currency translation is calculated as the difference between (a) the period-to­
period change in organic net sales, and (b) the period-to-period change in organic net sales atl:er applying prior period 
foreign exchange rates to the cmTent year period. 

<JJ The impact to Net sales represents the absence of the acceleration of previously deferred revenue of $ 17.9 million as a 
result of a customer's decision to discontinue fhrther investment ill commercializing its COYID-19 testing application in 
2022 that did not reoccur in 2023 . See Note 14, "Restructuring txpenses and Asset Impairments," in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail. 

(
4

) Represents a reserve recorded on an investment with a collaborative partner. See Note 3, "Collaborative Investments," in 
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitati!ve Disclosures About Market Risk. 

The Company is subject to market risk associated with changes in foreign cunency exchange rates and interest rates as well 
as inflationary factors. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates 

The Company's toreign cunency exchange rate risk is limited principally to the Euro, Swiss Franc, Canadian Dollar, 
British Pound, Indian Rupee, Chinese Renminbi, Swedish Krona, Japanese Yen and Brazilian Real. The Company manages its 
toreign exchange risk principally through invoicing customers in the same currency as the source of products. The toreign 
currency transaction (gains) losses tor the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $(1.0) million, $7.3 million and 
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$(0.8) million, respectively, and are reported within Other (income) expense- net on the Consolidated Statements oflncome. 
See Note l, "Significant Accounting Policies," in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion. 

Interest Rate Fluctlwtions 

The Company has interest rate exposure due to $269.8 million of the $1,971.3 million debt outstanding at December 31 , 
2024 bearing floating rate debt. The Company's Revolving Facility bears interest at either an alternate base rate or adjusted 
Tenn SOFR (or appropriate alternative currency reference rates) plus, in each case, an applicable margi.n based on the lower of 
the Company's senior, unsecured, long-term debt rating or the Company's applicable leverage ratio. At December 3 1, 2024, 
there was $269.8 million outstanding under the Revolving Facility with an interest rate of3.84%. 

Inflation R isk 

We source a wide va1iety of materials and components from a network of global suppliers. While materials are typically 
available from numerous suppliers, they are subject to price fluctuations, including the impact of new or increased tariffs on 
imports, which could have a negative impact on our results. We seek to minimize the effects of inflation and changing prices 
through price increases to maintain reasonable gross margins. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

MANAGEMENT 'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over financial reporting. Jntemal 
control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of frnancial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America, and as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a- 15(0. 

Internal control over frnancial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving frnancial reporting objectives 
because of its inherent limitations. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented 
or detected on a timely basis by intemal control over financial reporting. 

Management has used the framework set forth in the report entitled "lntemal Control - Integrated Framework" (2013) 
issued by lhe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission to assess the effectiveness of the 
Company' s intemal control over financia l rep01ting. Management excluded Mott Corporation (i·om its assessment of intemal 
controls over financial reporting as the acquisition occmTed in 2024 (see Note 2, "Acquisitions and Divestitures," in the Notes 
to Consolidated financial Statements for further detail). This exclusion is in accordance with the general guidance from the 
StaiT of the Securities and Exchange Commission that an assessment of a recently acquired business may be omitted from the 
scope of management's assessment of internal control over frnancial reporting for one year following the acquisition. The total 
assets (excluding goodwill and intangible assets) and net sales of the current year acquisition represented approximately eiglht 
percent and two percent, respectively, ofthe Consolidated Financial Statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 
31 , 2024. Based on that assessment, management has concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting 
was effective as of December 31, 2024. 

The effectiveness of the Company's intemal control over financial reporting as of December 3 1, 2024, has been audited by 
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting finn, as stated in their report which appears herein. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors ofiDEX Corporation 

Opinion on Internal Contr()) over Financial Reporting 

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of IDEX Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of 
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (20 13) issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over fmancial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated fmancial statements as of and for the year ended December 31 , 2024, of the Company and our 
report dated February 20, 2025, expressed an unqualitled opinion on those fi nancial statements. 

As desc1ibed in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded Mort Corporation 
fi·om its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as this acquisition occurred in the twelve months ende d 
December 31, 2024. The combined total assets (excluding goodwill and intangible assets) and net sales of this acquisition 
represented approximately eight percent and two percent, respectively, of the consolidate d financial statement amounts as of 
and tor the year ended December 31, 2024. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting 
at this acquired company. 

Basis for Opinion 

TI1e Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective intemal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the etTectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Rep01t 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company' s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting !firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether etTective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fmancial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessa1y in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

A company's internal control over fmancial repotting is a process des igned to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of fi nancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company' s intemal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to pennit 
preparation of financial statements in acco·rdance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance witih authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets thai could have a material eftect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fmancia l reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Als-o, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCH E LLP 

Chicago, Illinois 

Februaty 20, 2025 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors ofiDEX Corporation 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of lOEX Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of 
December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows, 
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
"financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the frnancial position of 
the Company as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over frnancial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in 
internal Control - integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of SponsOl"ing Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission and our report dated February 20, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over 
frnancial reporting. 

Basis for Opinion 

These tlnancial statements a.re the responsibility of the Company's management. Ou.r responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
en·or or fraud. Our audits included perfonning procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the frnancial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matter 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising fi·om the cun ent-period audit of the financial statements that 
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (I) relates to accounts or disclosures that 
are mate1ial to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and 
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the 
accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Revenue - Disaggregation of Revenue - Refer to Note 5 to the financial sU1tements 

Critical Audit Matter Description 

The Company is a highly diversified business with a wide range of products and se1vices that are oflhed in va1ious marke ts 
throughout the world. The Company's business activities are carried out by nwnerous individual business unjts, which otfer a 
unique set of products and include niche markets within specific geographic areas. 

We identified revenue as a critical audit matte r given the disaggregated nature of the Company's operations and business units 
generating revenue. This required extensive audit effort due to the volume of the underlying transactions and distinctiveness of 
each individual business unit. High levels of auditor judgment were necessary to determine the nature, timing, and extent of 
audit procedures and the level of disaggrega~ion within the Company at which to perfonn such procedures, especially given 
limited market data tor certain products or geographic areas. 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to the Company's revenue transactions included the fo llowing, among others: 
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We tested internal controls within the relevant revenue business processes, including controls over revenue recognition 
and controls over the review of significant revenue transactions and operating results. 

For revenue transactions not subject to detail transaction testing, we aggregated the revenue transactions at the 
reporting unit level and performed substantive analytical procedures. We developed independent expectations of 
revenue based on data derived from published industry indices and market and customer trends and compared our 
independent expectations to the revenue recorded by management. 

For a sample of revenue transactions, we pe1formed detail transaction testing by agreeing the amounts recorded to 
source documents and determined that revenue was recognized appropriately. 

lsi DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Chicago, Illinois 

February 20, 2025 

We have served as the Company' s auditor since 1987. 
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IDEX CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

(In millions, except per share amounts) 

for· the Year Ended December 31, 

Net sales 

Cost of sales 

Gross profit 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 

Restruct11ring expenses and asset impairments 

Operating income 

Gain on sale of businesses- net 

Other (income) expense- net 

Interest expense - net 

Income before income taxes 

Provision for income taxes 

Net income 

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 

Net income attributable to IDEX 

t :amings per common share: 

tlasic earnings per common share attTibutable to lDEX 

Diluted earnings per common share attributable to IDEX 

Share data: 

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2024 

3,268.8 

1,823.6 

1,445.2 

758.7 

9.3 
677 .2 

(4 .0) 

(2 .6) 

44 .5 

639.3 

134.7 

504.6 

OA 
505.0 

G. GG 

6.64 

75.7 

75 .9 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2023 

3,273.9 

1,827.0 

1,446.9 

703.5 

10.9 

7325 

(84.7) 

5.2 

51.7 

760.3 

164.7 

595.6 

0.5 

596.1 

7.87 

7.85 

75.6 

75.9 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2022 

3,181.9 

1,755.0 

1,426.9 

652.7 

22.8 
751.4 

(34.8) 

(3.9) 

40.7 

749.4 

162.7 

586.7 

0.2 

586.9 

7.74 

7.71 

75.7 

76.0 



IDEX CORPORATION 
CO NSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COM PREHENSIVE INCOME 

(In millions) 

for· the Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 

Net income $ 504.6 $ 595.6 $ 

Other comprehensive (loss) income: 

Pension and other postretirement adjustments, net of tax 3_1 (7.4) 

Cumulative translation adjustment (88 .2) 87 s 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (85 . .1) 80.4 

Comprehensive income 419.5 676.0 

Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 0.4 0.5 

Comprehensive income attributable to IDEX $ 419.9 $ 676.5 $ 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements_ 
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2022 

586.7 

18.3 

(74.9) 

(56.6) 

530. 1 

0.2 

530.3 



IDEX CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In millions, except per share amounts) 

ASSETS 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Receivables- net 

lnventories - net 

Other current assets 

Total current assets 

Property, plant and equipment- net 

Goodwill 

Intangible assets - net 

Other noncurrent assets 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Current liabilities 

Trade accounts payable 

Accrued expenses 

Current portion of long-tcnn borrowings 

Dividends payable 

Total current liabilities 

Long-term borrowings- net 

Deferred income taxes 

Other noncurrent liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Commitments and contingencies (Note I 0) 

Shareholdlers' equity 

Preferr·ed stock: 

Authorized: 5.0 million shares, $.01 per share par value; Issued: None 

Common stock: 

Authorized: 150.0 million shares, $.01 per share par value 

Issued: 90. 1 million shares at both December 3 1, 2024 and 2023 

Treasury stock at cost: 14.2 million shares at December 31 , 2024 and 14.3 million shares 
at December 31, 2023 

Additional paid-in capital 

Retained earnings 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

Total shareholders' equity 

Noncontrolling interest 

Total equity 

Total liabilities and equity 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

As of Decembe1· 31, 

2024 2023 

620.8 $ 534.3 

465.9 427.8 

429.7 420.8 

76.3 63.4 

I ,592. 7 I ,446.3 

4604 430.3 

3,251.7 2,838.3 

I ,284.8 I ,0 11.8 

I55.7 138.5 

6,745.3 =$==5=,8=6=5.2= 

197.8 $ 179.7 

278.7 271.5 

100.7 0.6 

52.5 48.5 

629.7 500.3 

1,859.5 U25.t 

267.2 291.9 

194.8 206.7 

2,951.2 2,324.0 

0.9 0.9 

(I , 170.3) (1,187.0) 

8648 839.0 

4,230.2 3,934.3 

(130.9) (45.8) 

3,794.7 3,541.4 

(0.6) (0.2) 

3,794.I 3,541.2 

6,745.3 $ 5,865.2 



IDEX CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY 

(In millions, except per share amounts) 

Common 
Stock and Accumulated 
Additional Other Total 

Common Paid- Treasury Stock Treasury Comprehensive Retained Shareholders' Noncontrolliog 
Stock Shares In Capital Shares Stock Loss Earnings Equity Interest T otal Equity 

Balance, December 31,:2021 90.1 s 796.5 13.9 s ( 1.050.3) s (69.6) s 3.126.5 $ 2.803. 1 s $ 2,803.1 

Net income (loss) 586.9 586.9 (0.2) 586.7 

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (56.6) (56.6) (56.6) 

Net issuance of shares oftreasnry stock (net 
of tax ofS3.1) (0.2) 14.1 14.1 14.1 

Repurchases of common stock 0.8 (148.1) ( 148.1) ( 148.1) 

Share-based compensatio n 2 1.6 21.6 21.6 

Cash dividends declared - $2.40 per 
common share (181.7) (181.7) ( 181.7) 

Contribulions received from joint venture 
partner 0.5 0.5 

Balance, December 31, :2022 90.1 s 818.1 14.5 s (1 ,1843~ s (126.2) s 3,531.7 $ 3.039.3 s 03 s 3.039.6 

Net income (loss) 596.1 596.1 (0.5) 595.6 

Other comprehensive income. net of ~'X 80.4 80.4 80.4 

Net issuance of shares oftreasnry stock (net 
of tax of$2.8) (0.3) 21.5 2 1.5 21.5 

Repurchases of common Stock 0.1 {24.2) (24.2) {24.2) 

Share-based compensation 2 1.8 21.8 21.8 

Cash dividends declared - $2.56 per 
common share {193.5) {193.5) (193.5) 

Bal>~nce, Decembe r 31,2023 90.1 s 839.9 14.3 $ (I ,187.0) $ (45.8) s 3.934.3 $ 3,541.4 s (0.2) $ 3,541.2 

Net income (loss) 505.0 505.0 (0.4) 504.6 

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (85.1) (85. 1) (85.1) 

Net issuance of shares oftreasnry stock (net 
of tax of$2.7) (0.1) 16.7 16.7 16.7 

Share-based compensatio n 25.8 25.8 25.8 

Cash dividends declared - S2.76 per 
common ~hare. (209.1 ) (209.1) (209.1) 

Balance, Dcccmbeo· 31,:2024 90.1 s 865.7 14.2 s (1.1703) s (130.9) s 4.230 2 s 3.794.7 s (06) $ 3.794.1 

See Notes to Consolidated Financ ial Statements. 
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IDEX CORPORATION 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In millions) 

For tbe Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net income $ 504.6 $ 595.6 s 586.7 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows provided by operating activities: 

Gain on sale of businesses - net (4.0) (R4.7) (~4.R) 

Asset impainnents 0.1 0.8 17.4 

Credit loss on note receivable from collaborative partner 7.7 

Deprecia1ion 68.5 57.2 50.7 

Amortization of intangible assets 107.1 94.9 69.0 

Share-based compensation expense 25.8 2 1.8 21.6 

Deferred income taxes (19.4) (14.7) (18.5) 

Changes in (net of the etJect lrom acquisitionsldivestitur·es and loreign currency translation): 

Receivables - net (16.9) 20.5 (71.7) 

Inventories - net 17.6 66.2 (72.4) 

Other current assets (0.1) (6.5) (0.5) 

Trade accounts payable 8.9 (25.3) 17.6 

Deferred revenue (17.9) 12.7 (25.0) 

Accrued expenses (8.6) (34.8) 16.6 

Other - net 2.4 5.3 0.7 

Net e<~sh flows provided by operating activities 668. 1 716.7 557.4 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Capita l expenditures (65.1) (89.9) (68.0) 

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (984.5) (31 1.8) (945.6) 

Proceeds from sale of businesses, net of cash remitted 45.1 118.6 49.4 

Purchase of marketable securities (29.0) 

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 4.5 24.8 39.7 

Other - net (6.5) 3.5 7.3 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (I ,006.5) (283.8) (917.2) 

Cash flows fi-om financing activities 

Borrowings under revolving credit tacilities 279.3 210.4 

Payments under revolving credit facilities (69.1) (135.0) 

Proceeds from issuance of long-tem1 borrowings 496.7 100.0 200.0 

Payment of long-tem1 borrowings (50.0) (250.0) 

Debt issuance costs (1.7) 

Cash dividends paid to shareholders (205.3) ( 190.7) (177.4) 

Proceeds from share issuances, net of shares withheld for taxes 16.7 2 1.5 14. 1 

Repurchases of common stock (24.2) (148. 1) 

Other- net (0.7) ( 1.3) (1.8) 

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities 465.9 (344.7) (37.8) 

Eftect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (22.9) 15.9 (27.6) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 104.6 104.1 (425.2) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year<•> 534.3 430.2 855.4 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year<t> $ 638.9 $ 534.3 s 430.2 

Supplemental cash flow information 

Cash paid lor: 

Interest s 47.4 $ 50.8 $ 37. 1 

Income taxes - net 171.4 199.5 175.6 

<•> Includes $ 18.1 million of restricted cash at December 31, 2024. The restricted cash has been included in Other current assets in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. There was no restricted cash as of December 3 I , 2023, December 31 , 2022 or December 3 I, 2021. 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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IDEX CORPORATION 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(In millions, except pe1· sha1·e amounts) 

I. Significant Accounting Policies 

Business 

JOEX is an applied solutions provider specializing in the manufacturing of fluid and metering technologies, health and 
science technologies and fire, safety and other diversified products built to customers' specitl.cations. lDEX's products are sold 
in niche markets across a wide range of industries tluoughout the world. The Company operates tluough three reportable 
segments: Fluid & Metering Technologies ("FMT'), Health & Science Technologies ("HST") and Fire & Satery!Diversified 
Products ("'F'SJ)P") 

Consolidation and lJasis of Presentation 

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The Consolidated Financial Statements include the 
Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in contonnity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
judgments that atlect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period Acn1al results could difter fi·om those estimates. The principal 
areas of estimation reflected in the ·financial statements are revenue recognition, sales retums and allowances, allowance lor 
credit losses, inventory valuation, recoverability of long-lived assets, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, income taxes, 
product warranties, contingencies and litigation, insurance-related items, defmed bemefit retirement plans and purchase 
accounting related to acquisitions. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company accounts for a contract with a customer when it has approval from both parties, the rights and payment terms 
are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of the consideration is probable. The Company 
determines the appropriate revenue recognition by analyzing the terms and conditions of the contract. Revenue, or Net sales, is 
recogn ized when control of the products or services is transferred to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration the 
Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring the products or providing the services. Control is transferred to 
customers when performance obligations within a contract are satisfied. A performance obligation is a promise to transfer a 
distinct product or service to a customer. 

The majority of the Company' s contracts have a single performance obligation which represents, in most cases, the product 
being sold to the customer. Some contracts include multip le perfonnance obligations such as a product and related installation, 
extended warranty, engineering, software and/or maintenance services. 

For contracts that require complex design , manufacturing and installation activities, certain performance obligations may 
not be separately identifiable and, therefore, not distinct. As a result, the entire contract is accounted for as a single performance 
obligation. For contracts that include distinct products or services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of 
transfer to the customer over time, they are recognized as a series of distinct products or services. For product sales, each 
product sold to a customer generally represents a distinct performance obligation. For contracts with multiple performance 
obligations, the Company allocates the total transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount based on the relative 
standalone selling prices of the promised products or services underlying each performance obligation. When available, the 
observable standalone sales are used in the a•location of the total transaction price, but in certain cases, the Company may be 
required to estimate the standalone selling price using the expected cost plus margin approach, under which it forecasts the 
expected costs of satisfying a performance obligation and then adds an appropriate margin for the distinct product or service. 

The Company's perfonnance obligations are satisfied at either a point in time or over time as work progresses. For 
performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, revenue is recognized when control transfers to the customer, typically 
upon shipment. For performance obligations in which the Company transfers control of a product or service over time, revenue 
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is recognized over time as work is perfo•med. Typically, this results when the Company performs services over time or the 
Company creates a product with no alternative use and has an enforceable right to payment for its performance to date. 

When accounting for over-time contracts, the Company generally uses a cost input measure to determine the extent of 
progress towards completion of the performance obligation. The Company believes this measure of progress best depicts the 
transfer of control to the customer which occurs as the Company incurs costs on its contracts. Incurred cost represents work 
performed, which corresponds with the transfer of control to the customer. Contract costs include labor, material and overhea.d. 
Revenue is recognized based on the relationship between actual costs incurred to date for each contract and the total estimated 
costs for such contract at completion of the peJformance obligation. 

As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of the Company 's contracts, the 
Company reviews and updates its estimates regularly. Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation process, it is reasonably 
possible that completion costs, including those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, will be 
revised. Such revisions to costs and income are recognized in the period in which the revisions are detennined as a cumulative 
catch-up adjustment. The impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date on a contract is recognized in the period the 
adjustment is identified. Revenue and profit in fl.1ture periods of contract performance are recognized using the adjusted 
estimate. If at any time the estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, the Company 
recognizes. provisions for estimated losses on incomplete contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. 

l11e Company records a iJowances for discounts and product retums at the time of sale as a reduction of revenue as such 
allowances can be reliably estimated based on historical experience and known trends. The Company also otlers product 
warranties (primarily assmance-type) and accrues its estimated exposure for warranty claims at the time of sale based upon the 
length of the waiTanty period, warranty costs i11curred and any other related infonnation known to the Company. 

Contract Assets and Liabilities 

The timing of billings and cash collections can result in customer receivables, billings in excess of revenue recognized, 
advance payments or deposits. Customer receivables include both amounts billed and currently due from customers as well as 
unbilled amounts (contract assets) and are included in Receivables - net on the Consolidated Balance Slheets. Amounts are 
billed in accordance with contractlial tenns or as work progresses. Unbilled amounts arise when the timing of billing differs 
from the timing of revenue recognized, such as when contract provisions require specific milestones to be met before a 
customer can be billed. Unbilled amounts primarily relate to perfom1ance obligations satisfied over time when the cost-to-cost 
method is utilized and the revenue recognized exceeds the amount billed! to the customer as there is not yet a right to invoice in 
accordance with contractual tenns. Unbilled amounts are recorded as a contract asset when the revenue associated with the 
contract is recognized prior to billing and derecognized when billed in accordance with the terms of the contract. 

Contract liabilities include advance payrnents, deposits and billings in excess of revenue recognized and are included in 
deferred revenue which is classified as ctuTent or noncurrent based on the timing of when tl1e Company expects to recognize the 
revenue. The current portion is included in Accrued expenses and the noncuiTent portion is included in Other noncurrent 
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Advance payments, deposits and billings in excess of revenue represent contract 
liabilities and are recorded when customers remit contractual cash payments in advance of satisfaction of performance 
obligations under contractual arrangements, including those with performance obligations satisfied over time. The Company 
generally receives advance payments from customers related to mainte nance services which are recognized ratably over the 
service term. The Company also receives deposits from customers on certain orders which the Company recognizes as revenue 
at a point in time. Contract liabilities are derecognized when revenue is recognized. 

Shipping and Handling Costs 

Shipping and handling costs are included in Cost of sales and are recognized as a period expense during the period in 
which they are incurred. 

Advertising Costs 

Advertising costs of $16.9 million, $15.9 million and $14.9 million for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are expensed as 
incurred within Selling, general and administrative expenses. 

48 



Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of 3 months or less to be cash 
and cash equivalents. 

Marketable Securities 

From time to time, the Company may hold investments in marketable securities, whicl1 are recorded in Other current assets 
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These investments are recorded at fair value, with gains and losses, dividends and interest 
income included in Other (income) expense - net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 8, "Fair Value 
Measurements," for further discussion on the marketable securities held by the Company. 

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses 

Accounts receivable are recorded at face amount less an allowance tor credit losses. The allowance is an estimate based on 
historical collection experience, current and future economic and market conditions and a review of the cmrent status of each 
customer's trade accounts receivable. Management evaluates the aging of the accounts receivable balances and the financial 
condition of its customers and all other f01ward-looking information that is reasonably available to estimate the amount of 
accounts receivable that may not be collected in the futme and records the appropriate provision. 

Inventories 

The Company states inventories at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost, which includes material, labor and 
overhead, is determined on a first in, frrst out basis. The Company makes adjustments to reduce the cost of inventory to its net 
realizable value, if required, for estimated excess, obsolete, zero usage or impaired balances. Factors influencing these 
adjustments include changes in market demand, product life cycle and engineering changes. 

impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

A long-lived asset is reviewed for impairment if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not 
reduce the fair value of tbe asset below its canying value, as measured by comparing its net book value to tbe projected 
undiscounted future cash flows generated by its use. The Company groups and evaluates these long-lived assets for impaitment 
at the lowest level at which individual cash tlows can be identified. A long-lived asset ampairment exists when the carrying 
value of the asset group exceeds its (air value. The amount and timing of the impainnent charge for an asset group requires the 
estimation of future cash flows, which are then discounted to determine the fair value of the asset group. An impaired ass-et 
group is recorded at its estimated fair value. Refer to Note I4, "Restructuring Expenses and Asset Impairments," for further 
discussion on impainnent of long-lived assets. 

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets 

Accollnting Standards Codification ("ASC") 350, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("ASC 350"), requires that the 
Company review the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually, or if an event occurs or 
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit or asset below its carrying value. 
The Company evaluates the recoverability of these assets as of October 31 based on the estimated fair value of each reporting 
unit and the indefinite-lived intangible assets. See Note 6, "Goodwill and Intangible Assets," for further discussion on goodwill 
and indefinite-lived intangible assets. 

Borrowing li.xpenses 

Expenses incurred in securing and issuing debt are capitalized and amortized over the life of the related bonowing and the 
related amortization is included in Interest expense - net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Debt issuance costs related 
to senior notes and term loans are included as a reduction of the can·ying amount of the related botTowing. Debt issuance costs 
related to securing the Company's Revolving Facility are included in Other noncurrent assets in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. 
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Earnings per Common Share 

Diluted earnings per common share ("EPS") attributable to IDEX is computed by dividing Net income attributable to 
TDEX by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding (basic) plus common stock equivalents outstanding 
(diluted) during the year. Common stock equivalents consist of restricted stock, perfonnance share units and stock options, 
which have been included in the calculation of weighted average common shares outstanding using the treasury stock method. 

ASC 260, Earnings Per Share ("ASC 260"), concludes that all outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that 
contain rights to non-forfeitable dividends pa11icipate in undistributed earnings with common shareholders. If awards are 
considered participating securities, the Company is required to apply the two-class method of computing basic and diluted 
earnings per share. The Company has determined that its outstanding shares of restricted stock granted prior to the adoption of 
the IDEX Corporation 2024 Incentive Award Plan (the "2024 Incentive Award Plan") are participating securities. Accordingly, 
Diluted EPS attributable to IDEX was computed using the two-class method prescribed by ASC 260. Under the 2024 Incentive 
A ward Plan, dividend rights for restricted stock are subject to the same vesting requirements as the underlying restricted stock 
awards. Consequently, any restricted stock awarded under the 2024 Incentive Award Plan will not be considered participating 
securities. 

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding reconciles to diluted weighted average common shares outstanding as 
follows: 

2024 2023 2022 

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 75.7 75.6 75.7 

Dilutive eftect or restricted stock, performance share units and stock options 0.2 0.3 0.3 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 75.9 75.9 76.0 

Share-based payment awards that were not included in the computation of Diluted EPS attributable to IDEX because the 
effect of their inclusion would have been antidilutive were as follows: 

2024 2023 2022 

Antidilutive shares not included in Diluted EPS attributable to WEX 0.4 0.2 0.5 

Share-Based Compensation 

The Company accounts for share-based payments in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. 
Accordingly, the Company expenses the fair value of the awards granted under its share-based compensation plans. That cost is 
recogn ized in the Consolidated Financial Statements over the requisite service pe1iod of the grants. See Note 15, "Share-Based 
Compensation," for further discussion on share-based compensation. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is recorded using the 
straight-line method over each asset's estimated useful life. Property and equipment are generally depreciated over the 
following estimated useful lives: 

Land improvements 

1:3uildings and improvements 

Machinery, equipment and other 

Office and transportation equipment 
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8 to 12 years 

8 to 30 years 

3 to 12 years 

2 to 10 years 



Certain identifiable intang ible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straig ht-line method. The 
estimated useful lives used in the computation of amortization of identifiable intangible assets are as follows: 

Patents 

Trade names 

Customer relationships 

Unpatented technology 

Software 

Research and Development bpendilures 

5 to 20 years 

15 to 20 years 

5 to 20 years 

8 to 20 years 

5 years 

Costs associated with engineering activities, including research and development, are expensed in the period incurred and 
are included in Cost of sales. 

Total e ngineering expenses, which include research and development as well as application and support engineering, were 
$ 111.2 million, $107.5 million and $95.4 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Research and development expenses, 
which include costs associated with developing new products and major improvements to existing products, were $67.4 million, 
$68.4 million and $6 1.4 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively 

Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction 

The functional currency of substantially all operations outside the United States is the respective local ctmency. 
According ly, those foreign currency balance sheet accounts have been translated using the exchange rates in etlect as of the 
balance sheet date and the income statement amounts have been translated using the average monthly exchange rates for the 
year. Translation adjustments from year to year have been reported in Accumulated other comprehensive loss in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses from transactions denominated in a currency other 
than the functional currency of the subsidiary involved are reported within Other (income) expense - net in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. Net transaction (gain) loss for the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $(1.0) million, 
$7.3 million and $(0.8) million, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

Income tax expense includes U.S., state, local and international income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized tor the tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of existing assets 
and liabilities and for loss canyfo1wards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that 
are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred 
tax assets to the amount that will more likely than not be realized. See Note 12, "Income Taxes," for further discussion on 
income taxes. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company is not dependent on a sing le customer as its largest c ustomer accounted for less than 3% of net sales for a ll 
years presented. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards 

ln November 2023, the Financial Accmmting Standards Board ("F ASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 
2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which improves the disclosures 
required fo r reportable segments in the Company's annual and interim financial state ments, p rimarily through enhanced 
disclosures about significant segm ent expenses The Company adopted this standard on a retrospective basis during the year 
ended December 31, 2024. TI1e adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company' s Consolidated 
Financial Statements, but resulted in additional segment expense disclosures. See Note 13, "Business Segments and Geographic 
Information," tor fu11her detail. 
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Improvements lo Income Tax Disclosures, which requires public 
entities, on an annual basis, to disclose standard categories in the tax rate reconciliation, additional information for reconciling 
items that meet a quantitative threshold and income taxes paid disagg:regated by jurisdiction_ ASU 2023-09 is effective for 
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Adoption of this ASU should be applied prospectively, but may be applied 
retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the fmancial statements. Early adoption is pennitted. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on the Company's financial statement disclosures. 

ln November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Disaggregation of income Statement J::xpenses, which requires public 
entities to disclose, within the footnotes to the financial statements, disaggregated infotmation about certain income statement 
expense captions, including disclosure of amounts tor purchases of i.nventory, employee compensation, depreciation and 
intangible asset amortization, included in each relevant expense caption_ J\SU 2024-03 is effective for annual periods beginning 
after December 15, 2026 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after Decemiber 15, 2027. Adoption of this ASU 
should be applied prospectively, but may be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. 
Early adoption is pennitted_ The Company is c urrently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on the Company's 
fmancial statement disclosures. 

2. Acquisitions and Divestitures 

All of the Company's acquisitions of businesses have been accounted for under ASC 805, Business Combinations. 
Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the acquired companies, afi:er adjustments to reflect the fair values assigned to the 
assets and liabilities, have been included in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets from their respective dates of 
acquisition. The results of operations of businesses acquired have been iincluded in the Company's Consolidated Statements of 
lncome since their respective dates of acquisition. Supplemental pro forma infonnation has not been provided as the 
acquisitions did not have a material impacn on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements individually or in the 
aggregate. 

The Company makes a preliminary allocation of the purchase price for each acquisition as of the acquisition date based on 
its understanding of the fair value of the acquired assets and assumed l-iabili ties. These nonrecurring fa ir value measuremell!tS 
are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. As the Company continues to obtain additional infonnation, primarily 
related to the valuations of these assets and liabilities, and continues to integrate the newly acquired business, the Company will 
refine the estimates of fair value and more accurately allocate the purchase price through the completion of the measurement 
period, which is not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition_ Only items that existed as of the acquisition date are 
considered for subsequent adjustment to the purchase price allocation. Goodwill recognized reflects the strategic fit, revenue 
and earnings growth potential of the acquired business and its synergies with existing IDEX businesses. 

2024 Acquisitions 

Mott Corporation 

On September 5, 2024, the Company acquired Mott Corporation and its subsidiaries ("Mott") in a stock acquisition. Mott is 
a leading microfiltTation business specializing in the design, customization and manufacturing of sintered porous metal 
components and engineered solutions used in fluidic applications. Headquartered in Farmington, Connecticut, Mott operates in 
the Scientific Fluidics & Optics reporting unit within the Company's HST segment. Mott was acquired for cash consideration 
of $986.2 million, net of cash acquired of $3 .1 million. TI1e purchase price was ftmded using a combination of cash on hand of 
$2 1 1.9 million, borrowings under the Company's Revolving Facili ty of $279.3 million and net proceeds of $495.0 million from 
the issuance of the Company's 4.950% Senior Notes (defined in Note 7, "Borrowings"). Goodwill and intang ible assets 
recognized as part of this transaction were $483 .6 million and $412.8 million, respectively. The goodwill is expected to be 
primarily deductible for tax purposes. 
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As of December 31, 2024, the prelimina•y allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, 
based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date, is as follows: 

Current assets, net of cash acquired 

Property, p lant and equipment 

Goodwill 

Intangible assets 

Other noncurrent assets 

Total assets acquired 

Current liabilities 

Deferred income taxes 

Other noncurrent liabilities 

Net assets acquired 

$ 

$ 

Total 

87.2 

53.7 

483 .6 

412.8 

14.7 

1,052.0 

(45.4) 

(9.2) 

( 11.2) 

986.2 

Acquired intangible assets consist of trade names, customer relationships and unpatented technology. The acquired 
intangible assets and weighted average amortization periods are as follows: 

Trade names 

Customer relationships 

Unpatented technology 

Acquired intangible assets 

Total 

$ 

$ 

42.0 

269.0 

101.8 

412.8 

Weighted Aver·age Life 
(in years) 

15 

14 

13 

In Januruy 2025, the Company finalized the purchase price of Mott, resulting in a reduction to the purchase price of 
$4.2 million. Funds were received by the Company in January 2025. 

2023 Acquisitions 

Iridian 

On May 19, 2023, the Company acquired Iridian Spectral Teclmologies ("Iridian") in a stock acquisition. Iridian is a global 
leader in designing and manutacturiog thin-film, multi- layer optical filters serving the laser communications, 
telecommunications and life sciences markets and expands the Company' s array of optical technology offerings. Headquartered 
in Ottawa, Canada, Iridian operates in the Company's Scientific Fluidics & Optics reporting unit within the HST segment. 
IJidian was acquired for cash consideration of $109.8 million. The entire purchase price was f1mdcd with cash on hand. 
Goodwill and intangible assets recognized as part of this transaction were $54.2 million and $44. 1 million, respectively. The 
goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. 
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The final allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fa ir values 
at the acquisition date, is as follows: 

Current assets, net of cash acquired 

Property, plant and equipment 

Goodwill 

Intangible assets 

Other noncurrent assets 

Total assets acquired 

Current liabilities 

Deferred income taxes 

Other noncurrent liabilities 

Net assets acquired 

Total 

$ 

$ 

10.6 

19.4 

54.2 

44.1 

5.4 

133.7 

( 1.2) 

(17.8) 

(4.9) 

109.8 

Acquired intangible assets consist of trade names, customer relationships and unpatented technology. The acquired 
intangible assets and weighted average amortization periods are as follows: 

Trade names 

Customer relationships 

Unpatented technology 

Acquired intangible assets 

STC 

$ 

$ 

Total 

5.2 

27.8 

11.] 

44.1 

Weighted Aver·age Life 
(in years) 

15 

12 

11 

On December 14, 2023, the Company acquired STC Material Solutions ("STC") in a stock acquisition. STC specializes jn 
the design and manufacturing of technical ceramics and hermetic sealing products for critical applications in the semiconductor, 
aerospace and defense, indust1·ial technology, medical technology and energy markets. Headquartered in St. Albans, Vermont, 
with additional operations in Santa Ana, California, STC operates in the Company's Scientific Fluidics & Optics reporting unit 
within the HST segment. STC was acquired for cash consideration of $200.4 million. The entire purchase price was funded 
with cash o n hand. Goodwill and intangible assets recognized as part of this transaction were $ 104.3 million and $92.3 million, 
respectively. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. 
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The final allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fa ir values 
at the acquisition date, is as follows: 

Current assets, net of cash acquired 

Property, plant and equipment 

Goodwill 

Intangible assets 

Other noncurrent assets 

Total assets acquired 

Current liabilities 

Deferred income taxes 

Other noncurrent liabilities 

Net assets acquired(') 

Total 

$ 

$ 

16.7 

12J 

104.3 

92.3 

3.0 

228.4 

(5.5) 

(19.8) 

(2.7) 

200.4 

( I) During the first quarter of2024, the Company finalized the purchase price of STC, resulting in a $1.6 million downward 
adjustment to the purchase price of the STC business. 

Acquired intangible assets consist of trade names, customer relationships and unpatented technology. The acquired 
intangible assets and weighted average amortization periods are as follows: 

Trade names 

Customer relationships 

Unpatented techno logy 

Acquired intangible assets 

2022 Acquisitions 

Nexsight 

$ 

$ 

Total 

9.3 

63.0 

20.0 

92.3 

\Veighted Average Life 
(in years) 

15 

15 

11 

On february 28, 2022, the Company acquired Nexsight, LLC and its businesses Envi.rosight, WioCan, MyTana and 
Pipeline Renewal Technologies ("Nexsight") in a partial stock and pa1tial asset acquisition. Nexsight complements and creates 
synergies with the Company's existing iPEK and ADS business units that design and create sewer crawlers, inspection and 
monitoring systems and software applications that allow teams to identify, anticipate and correct wastewater system issues 
remotely. Headqumtered in Randolph, New J.ersey, Nexsight operates in the Company' s Water reporting unit within the FMT 
segment. Nexsight was acquired for cash consideration of $112.5 million. The entire purchase price was funded with cash on 
hand. Goodwill and intangible assets recognized as part of this transaction were $54.7 million and $49.8 million, respectively. 
Of the total goodwill balance recognized, $41.9 million was deductible for tax purposes. 
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The final allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fa ir values 
at the acquisition date, is as follows: 

Current assets, net of cash acquired 

Property, plant and equipment 

Goodwill 

Intangible assets 

Other noncurrent assets 

Total assets acquired 

Current liabilities 

Deferred income taxes 

Other noncurrent liabilities 

Net assets acquired 

$ 

$ 

Total 

16.6 

2.0 

54.7 

49.8 

4.3 

127.4 

(9.2) 

(1.9) 

(3.8) 

112.5 

Acquired intangible assets consist of trade names, customer relationships and software. The acquired intangible assets and 
weighted average amortization periods are as follows: 

Trade names 

Customer relationships 

Software 

Acquired intangible assets 

KZValve 

$ 

$ 

Tota l 

13.5 

31.5 

4.8 

49.8 

Weighted Avet·age Life 
(in years) 

15 

10 

5 

On May 2, 2022, the Company acquired KZ CO. ("KZValve") in an asset acquisition. KZValve is a leading manulhclurcr 
of electric valves and controllers used primarily in agricultural applications. KZYalve augments and expands IDEX 's 
agricultural portto lio, complementing Banjo's current fluid management solutions tor these applications. Headqua1tered in 
Greenwood, Nebraska, K ZValve operates in the Company's Agriculture reporting unit within the FMT segment. KZ Yalve was 
acquired for cash consideration of $ 120.1 million. The entire purchase was funded w ith cash on hand. Goodwill and intangible 
assets recognized as part of this transaction were $56.4 million and $52.0 million, respectively. The goodwill is deductible tor 
tax purposes. 
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The final allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values 
at the acquisition date, is as follows: 

Current assets, net of cash acquired 

Property, plant and equipment 

Goodwill 

Intangible assets 

DefeiTed income taxes 

Other noncurrent assets 

Total assets acquired 

CutTent liabilities 

Net assets acquired 

$ 

$ 

Total 

9.7 

1.8 
56.4 

52.0 

0.2 

l.O 

12U 

(1.0) 

120. [ 

Acquired intangible assets consist of trade names, customer relationships and unpatented technology. The acquired 
intangible assets and weighted average amortization periods are as follows: 

Trade names 

Customer relationships 

Unpatented technology 

Acquired intangible assets 

Muon Group 

$ 

$ 

Total 

7.5 

36.0 

8.5 

52.0 

\\'cighted Average Life 
(in years) 

15 

13 

10 

On November 18, 2022, the Company acquired the stock ofMuon B.V. and its subsidiaries ("Muon Group"). Muon Group 
manutactmes highly precise flow paths in a variety of materials that enable the movement of various liquids and gases jn 
critical applications for medical, semiconductor, food processing, digital printing and filtration technologies. Muon Group 
maintains operations in Hapert, the Netherlands; Eerbeek, the Netherlands; Wijchen, the Netherlands; Dorset, england and 
Pune, India and operates in the Company's Scientific Fluidics & Optics reporting unit within the HST segment. Muon Group 
was acquired for cash consideration of $713.0 million. The purchase price was ftmded with $342.6 million of cash on hand, 
$170.4 million of proceeds from the Company's Revolving Facility and $200.0 million ofproceeds from the Company's Tenn 
Facility (defined in Note 7, "Borrowings"). Goodwill and intangible assets recognized as part of this transaction were $396.6 
million and $3 19.1 million, respectively. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. 
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The final allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fa ir values 
at the acquisition date, is as follows: 

Current assets, net of cash acquired 

Property, plant and equipment 

Goodwill 

Intangible assets 

Other noncurrent assets 

Total assets acquired 

Current liabilities 

Deferred income taxes 

Other noncurrent liabilities 

Net assets acquired 

Total 

$ 

$ 

51.4 

57.6 

396.6 

319.a 

9.6 

834.3 

(26.8) 

(83.5) 

(1 1.0) 

713.0 

Acquired intangible assets consist of trade names, customer relationships and unpatented technology. The acquired 
intangible assets and weighted average amortization periods are as follows: 

Trade names 

Customer relationships 

Unpatented technology 

Acquired intangible assets 

Acquisition-Related Costs 

$ 

$ 

Total 

38.3 

212.4 

68.4 

119.1 

Weighted Avet·age Life 
(in yea rs) 

15 

13 

II 

The Company incurred acquisition costs related to completed, pending and potential transactions, including those that 
ultimately were not completed. These costs were recorded in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Company 's 
Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company also incurred fair value inventory step-up charges associated with completed 
acquisitions. These costs were recorded in Cost of sales in the Company 's Consolidated Statements of Income. A summary of 
the acquisition costs and the fair value inver1tory step-up charges recorded in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022 are presented in the following table: 

2024 

Acquisition costs $ 

Fair value inventory step-up charges 

58 

10.4 $ 

9.6 

2023 

7.3 $ 

1.6 

2022 

6.8 

8.5 



Divestitures 

The Company periodically reviews its businesses relative to its core business. As such, from time to time, the Company 
may sell various businesses or assets for a variety of reasons. Any resulting gain or loss recognized due to divestitures is 
recorded within Gain on sale of businesses - net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The divestitures did not represent a 
strategic s!hift that had a major effect on operations and financial results and, therefore, did not quality for presentation as 
discontinued operations. 

On June 3, 2024, the Company completed the sale of Alfa Valvole, Sri ("Alfa Valvole") for proceeds of $45.1 million, net 
of cash remitted, resulting in a gain on the sale of $4.0 million, net of a release of cumulative foreign currency translation losses 
of $5.5 million. There was no income tax impact associated with this transaction in the Consolidated Statements oflncome due 
to the participation exemption of its consolidated group. The results of Alfa Valvole were reported in the Valves reporting unit 
within the FMT segment through the date of disposition. 

On December 29, 2023 , the Company completed the sale of Novotema, SpA ("Novotema") for proceeds of $8.3 million, 
net of cash remitted, resulting in a loss on the sale of $9.1 million. There was no income tax impact associated with th.is 
transaction in the Consolidated Statements of Income due to the participation exemption of its consolidated group. The results 
ofNovolema were reported in the Sealing Solutions reporting unit within the HST segment through the date of disposition. 

On August 3, 2023, the Company completed the sale of Micropump, Inc. ("Micropump") for proceeds of $110.3 million, 
net of cash remitted, resulting in a pre-tax gain on the sale of$93.8 million. The divestiture resulted in $22 .7 million of income 
tax expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income dming the year ended December 31 , 2023. Micropump was its own 
reporting unit and its results were reported within the HST segment through the date of disposition. 

On September 9, 2022, the Company completed the sale of Knight LLC ("Knight") for proceeds of $49.4 million, net of 
cash remitted, resulting in a pre-tax gain on the sale of $34.8 million. The divestiture resulted in $5.5 million of income tax 
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income during the year ended December 31, 2022. The results of Knight were 
reported in the Water reporting unit within the FMT segment through the dale of disposition. 
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3. Collaborative Investments 

On May 12, 2020, a subsidiary of IDEX entered into a joint venture agreement with a third party to form a limited liability 
company (the "Joint Venture") that manufactures and sells high performance elastomer seals for the oil and gas industry to 
customers within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia as well as exports these high performance elastomer seals outside of the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Joint Venture maintains operations in Dammam, Saudi Arabia and operates in the Company's 
Sealing Solutions reporting unit within the HST segment. The Company has contributed $0.7 million for 55% of the share 
capital while the third-party partner has contributed $0.6 million for 45% of the share capital. The Joint Venture has been 
selling since July 2022. S ince IDEX controls the entity, IDEX has consolidated the Joint Venture and recorded a 
Noncontrolling interest in its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

During 2021 and 2022, a subsidiary of JDEX funded a total of$7.2 m illion in promissory notes as an investment in a start­
up company that provides conununication technology to improve individual perfonnance and team coordination for 
firefighters' responses, which aligns with IDEX's FSDP segment's strategic plan. On a qUJarterly basis, the Company evaluated 
whether an allowance for credit losses was required for these promissory notes and meas ured the allowance using the current 
expected credit loss modeL Dming the second quarter of 2023, IDEX determined that its investment may no longer be 
recoverable. As a result, IDEX recorded a credit loss of $7.7 million in Other (income) expense - net in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income and a reserve in Other noncurrent assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the full amount of the 
principal and accrued interest outstanding. During the fourth quarter of 2023, JDEX converted the promissory notes to equity, 
resulting in a cost method investment with zew value. 
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4. Balance Sheet Components 

December 31, 

2024 2023 

RECEIVABLES - NET 

Customers $ 461.0 $ 419.0 

Other 14.7 16.3 

Total 475.7 435.3 

Less: allowance for credit losses 9.8 7.5 

Receivables - net $ 465.9 $ 427.8 

INVENTORIES - NET 

Raw materials and components patts $ 285.5 $ 268.1 

Work in process 34.4 44.5 

Finished goods 109.8 108.2 

Inventories - net $ 429.7 $ 420.8 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET 

Land and improvements $ 30.0 $ 30.8 

Buildings and improvements 268.9 234.7 

Machinery, equipment and other 607.9 551.0 

Office and transportation equipment 108.6 106.0 

Construction in progress 34.9 53.5 

Total 1,050.3 976.0 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 589.9 545.7 

Property, plant and equipment - net $ 460.4 $ 430.3 

ACCRUED EXPENSES 

Payroll and related items $ 105.0 $ 97.1 

Management incentive compensation 14.6 16.4 

Income taxes payable 10.1 18.5 

Defened revenue 50.7 55.9 

Lease liability 26.1 22.0 

Other 72.2 61.6 

Accrued expenses $ 278.7 $ 271.5 

The valuation and qualifying account activity for tl1e years ended December 3 1, 2024, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 

2024 2023 2022 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 

Beginning balance January I $ 7.5 $ 8.0 $ 7.2 

Charged to costs and expenses, net of recoveries 1.7 0.6 2.2 

Utilization (1.0) (1.2) (1.2) 

Acquisitions and divestitures 1.8 0.4 0.5 

Other adjustments, including foreign cutTency translation (0.2) (0.3) (0.7) 

Ending balance December 3 1 $ ======= 9.8 $ 7.5 $ 8.0 
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5. Revenue 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

The Company has a comprehensive offering of products, including technologies, built to customers' specifications that are 
sold in niche markets throughout the world. The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by reporting 
unit and geographical region for each segment as the Company believes it best depicts how the amount, nature, timing and 
uncertainty of its revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. Revenue, presented as Net sales on the Consolidated 
Statements oflncome, was attributed to geographical region based on the location of the customer. ll1e following tables present 
revenue disaggregated by reporting unit and geographical region. 

Revenue by reporting unit tor the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was as follows: 

For· the Year Eoded December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

Pumps $ 408.3 $ 402.9 $ 396.5 

Water 347.8 345.8 307.8 

Energy 207.6 209.3 191.3 

Agriculture 146.4 159.6 152.8 

Valves 123.1 129.5 118.9 

Intersegment elimination ( 1.4) (2.9) ( 1.1) 

Fluid & Metering Technologies I ,231.8 1,244.2 1,166.2 

Scientific Fluidics & Optics(!) 706.1 681.5 639.0 

Pertonuance Pneumatic Technologies 237.4 250.0 257.6 

Sealing Solutions 232.4 242.3 266.0 

Material Processing Technologies 122.2 120.7 138. 1 

Micropump(2) 21.9 38.5 

lntersegment elimination (4.1) (2.9) (2.4) 

Health & Science Technologies 1,294.0 1,313.5 1,336.8 

Fire & Safety 467.2 431.9 400.[ 

Dispensing 161.3 167.5 167.5 

BAND-IT 115.8 119.4 111.6 

Intersegment elimination (1.3) (2.6) (0.3) 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 743.0 716.2 678.9 

Net sales $ 3,268.8 $ 3,273.9 $ 3,181.9 

(l) The year ended December 31 , 2022 includes the acceleration of previously deferred revenue of $ 17.9 million as a result 
of a customer's decision to discontinue further investment in commercializing its COVID-1 9 testing application. See Note 
14, "Restructuring Expenses and Asset Impairments," for further detail. 

(
2
) Revenue from Micropump (sold on August 3, 2023) has been included in the Company's Consolidated Statements of 

Income through the date of disposition. See Note 2, "Acquisitions and Divestitures," for further detail. 
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Revenue by geographical region for the years ended December 31,2024,2023 and 2022 was as follows: 

U.S. 

North America, excluding U.S. 

Europe 

Asia 

Other(!> 

lntersegment elimination 

Net sales 

U.S. 

North America, excluding U.S. 

Europe 

Asia 

Other<!) 

lotersegment elimination 

Net sales 

us.<2> 

North America, excluding U.S. 

Europe<2> 

Asia 

Othet1> 

Intersegment elimination 

Net sales 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

FMT 

693.1 $ 

68.3 

210.1 

169.7 

92.0 

(1 .4) 

1,231.8 $ 

FMT 

695.7 $ 

70.3 

213.8 

177.6 

89.7 

(2.9) 

1,244.2 $ 

FMT 

660.8 $ 

71.5 

194.6 

157.8 

82.6 

(1.1) 

1,166.2 $ 

Fm· the Year Ended December· 31,2024 

HST FSDP 

573.7 $ 354.9 

29.9 34.2 

408.0 178.4 

261.4 139.9 

25.1 36.9 

(4. 1) (1.3) 

1,294.0 $ 743.0 

For the Year Ended December· 31,2023 

HST FSDP 

575.5 $ 371.9 

22.6 33.4 

439.9 166.7 

249.4 108.5 

29.0 38.3 

(2.9) (2.6) 

1,313.5 $ 7 16.2 

For· the Year Ended December· 31,2022 

HST FSDP 

646.9 $ 343.3 

25.8 35.3 

379.7 160.9 

261.3 104.2 

25.5 35.5 

(2.4) (0.3) 

1,336.8 $ 678.9 

( I) Other includes: South America, Middle East, Australia and Ati·ica_ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

IDEX 

I ,621.7 

132.4 

796.5 

571.0 

154.0 

(6.8) 

3,268.~ 

IDEX 

1,643.1 

126.3 

820.4 

535.5 

157.0 

(8.4) 

3,273.9 

IDEX 

I ,65 1.0 

132.6 

735.2 

523.3 

143.6 

(3.8) 

3,18 1.9 

<2> The HST segment includes the acceleration of$17.9 million of previously deferred revenue as a result of a customer 's 
decision to discontinue further investment in commercializing its COVTD-1 9 testing appl ication, of which $9.5 million was 
recognized in the U.S. and $8.4 million was recognized in Europe in the year ended December 31, 2022. See Note 14, 
"Restructuring Expenses and Asset lmpai:nnents," for further detail. 

Pelformance Obligations 

The Company's performance obligations are satisfied either at a point in time or over time as work progresses. Revenue 
fi·om products and services transterred to customers at a point in time comprised approximately 95% of the Company's revenue 
and over time comprised approximately 5% of the Company's revenue in all years presented. 

Contract Assets and Liabilities 

The timing of billings and cash collections can result in customer receivables, billings in excess of revenue recognize-d, 
advance payments or deposits. Customer receivables include both amounts billed and cuJTent1y due from customers as well as 
unbilled amOlmts (contract assets) and are included in Receivables- net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
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The composition of customer receivables was as follows: 

Billed receivables 

Unbilled receivables 

Total customer receivables 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

$ 443.2 $ 408. I 

17.8 10.9 

$ 461.0 =$====4=19=.0= 

Billings in excess of revenue recognized, advance payments and deposits represent contract liabilities and are included in 
defened revenue which is c lassified as current or noncunent based on when the Company expects to recognize the revenue. 
TI1e cmTent portion is included in Accrued expenses and the noncurrent portion is included in Other noncurrent liabilities on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

The composition of deterred revenue was as follows: 

DefeiTed revenue - current 

Deferred revenue - noncurrent 

Total defened revenue 

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

December 31, 2024 

$ 50.7 

13.2 

$ 63.9 

December 31, 2023 

$ 55.9 

17.3 

$ 73.2 

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for 2024 and 2023, by reportable business segment, were as follows: 

Fl\'IT RST FSDP Total 

Goodwill $ 800.9 $ 1,644.8 $ 393.0 $ 2,838.7 

Accumulated goodwill impai1ment losses (20.7) (149.8) (30. 1) (200.6) 

Balance at January 1, 2023 780.2 1,495.0 362.9 2,638.1 

Foreign currency translation 6 .6 38 .6 5.7 50.9 

Acquisitions 156 .. 7 156.7 

Measurement period adjustments (1 .8) 5.4 3.6 

Divestitures ( 11.0) (11.0) 

Balance at December 31, 2023 785.0 1,684.7 368.6 2,838.3 

Foreign currency translatio n (8.9) (43 .4) (8.1) (60.4) 

Acquisitions 483.6 483.6 

Measurement period adjustments 1.8 1.8 

Divestitures ( 11.6) (11.6) 

Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 764 .5 $ 2,126 .7 $ 360.5 $ 3,251.7 

Goodwill represents the purchase price in excess of the net amount assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
and was tested for impairment at each of the Company's reporting un its as determined in accordance with ASC 350 as of 
October 31, 2024, the Company's annual impairment test date, with no impainnent noted. In assessing the fair value of the 
reporting units, the Company considers both the market approach and the income approach. Under the market approach, the fair 
value of the reporting unit is determined by the respective trai ling 12 month earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciatio n 
and amortization ("EBITDA") and the forward looking 2025 EBITDA (SO% each), based on multiples of comparable public 
companies .. The market approach is dependent on a number of significant management assumptions including forecasted 
EBITDA and selected market multiples. Under the income approach, the fair value of the reporting unit is determined based on 
the present value of estimated future cash flows. The income approach is dependent on a number of significant management 
assumptions including estimates of operating results, capital expenditures, net working capital requirements, long-term growth 
rates and discount rates. Weighting was equally attributed to both the market and the income approaches (50% each) in arriving 
at the fair value of the reporting units In 2024 and 2023, there were no events or circumstances that would have required a n 
interim impairment test. 
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The following table provides the gross carrying value and accumulated amortization tor each major class of intangible asset 
at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

At December 31, 2024 At December· 31, 2023 

Gross Gr~ss 
CarTying Accumula ted CarTy ing Accumulated 
Amou·nt Amor·tization Net Amount Amortization Net 

Amot1ized intangible assets: 

Patents $ 2.5 $ (2.0) $ 0.5 $ 2.7 $ (2.0) $ 0.7 

Trade names 201.4 (60.0) 141.4 171.9 (54.3) 117.6 

Customer relationships 1,078.8 (278.7) 800.1 860.7 (228.7) 632.0 

Unpatented technology 325 4 (851) 240 3 233 .5 (66.3) 167.2 

Software 15.2 (3.6) 11.6 5.3 (1.9) 3.4 

Total amortized intangible assets 1,623.3 (429.4) 1,193.9 1,274.1 (353.2) 920.9 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets: 

Banjo trade name 62.1 62.1 62.1 62.1 

Akron Brass trade name 28.8 28.8 28.8 28.8 

Total intangible assets $ 1,714.2 $ (429.4) $ 1,284.8 $ 1,365.0 $ (353.2) $ 1,011.8 

The Banjo and Akron Brass trade names are indefinite-lived intangible assets that were also tested tor impainn ent as of 
October 31 , 2024, with no impainnents noted. These indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual 
basis in accordance with ASC 350 or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be 
impaired. The Company uses the relief-from-royalty method, a fom1 of the income approach, to determine the fair value of 
these trade names. The relief-from-royalty method is dependent on a number of significant management assumptions, including 
estimates of revenues, royalty rates and discount rates. In 2024 and 2023, there were no events or circumstances that would 
have required an interim impainnent test. 

Amortization of intangible assets was $107.1 million, $94.9 million and $69.0 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. Based on the intangible asset balances as of December 31 , 2024, expected amortization expense for the years 2025 
through 2029 is as follows: 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 
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Estimated Amortization 

124.5 

122.9 

119.3 

116.7 

107.4 



7. Borrowings 

Borrowings at December 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following: 

Decem be•· 31, 2024 Decem be•· 31, 2023 

3.37% Senior Notes, due June 2025 (the "3.37% Senior Notes") $ 100.0 $ 100.0 

5.13% Senior Notes, due June 2028 (the "5.1 3% Senior Notes") 100.0 100.0 

4.950% Senior Notes, due September 2029 (the "4.950% Senior Notes") 500.0 

3.00% Senior Notes, due M ay 2030 (the "3.00% Senior Notes") 500.0 500.0 

2.625% Senior Notes, due June 203 1 (the "2.625% Senior Notes") 500.0 500.0 

$800.0 million Revolving Facility, due November 2027 (the "Revolving Facility") 269.8 81.0 

$200.0 million Tcm1 Facility, due November 2027 (the "Term Facility") 50.0 

Other borrowings 1.5 2.3 

Total borrowings 1,971.3 1,333.3 

Less: current portion 100.7 0.6 

Less: w1amortized debt issuance costs and discount on debt 11.1 7.6 

Long-term borrowings $ I ,859.5 $ I ,325.1 

Revolving Facility and Term Facility 

On November I , 2022, the Company entered into an amended and restated credit agreement (as amended and restated, the 
"Credit Agreement") along with certain of its subsidiaries, as borrowers (the "Borrowers"), Bank of America, N.A., as 
administrative agent, swing line lender and an issuer of letters of credit, and other agents pmty thereto. The Credit Agreement 
consists of a revolving credit tacility in an aggregate principal amount of $800 million and a term credit tacility available to the 
Company in an aggregate principal amount of $200 million, both of which have a final mat11rity date of November I , 2027. The 
maturity date of the Revolving Facility may be extended under certain conditions tor an additional one-year tem1. Up to 
$100 million of the Revolving Facility is available tor the issuance of letters of credit. Additionally, up to $50 million of the 
Revolving Facility is available to the Company tor swing line loans, available on a same-day basis. 

Proceeds of the Revolving Facility are available tor use by the Borrowers tor working capital and other general corporate 
purposes, including refinancing existing debt of the Company and its subsidiaries and financing of acquisitions. The Company 
may request increases in the lending commitments under the Credit Agreement, but the aggregate lending commitments 
pursuant to such increases may not exceed $400 million. 1ne Company has the right, subject to certain conditions set forth in 
the Credit Agreement, to designate certain to·reign subsidiaries of the Company as borrowers under the Credit Agreement. In 
connection with any such designation, the Company is required to guarantee the obligations of any such subsidiaries under the 
Credit Agreement. During 2{)24, the Company drew down an aggregate amount of$279.3 million under the Revolving Facility 
to finance a portion of Company's acquisition of Mott. The Company repaid the previously outstanding balance of 
$50.0 million under the Tenn Facility and $69. 1 million under the Revolving Facility in 2024. Additionally, the Company 
repaid $30.2 million under the Revolving Facility in .January 2025 . 

BoiTowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at either an altemate base rate or Tetm SOFR (or appropriate 
alternative currency reference rates) plus, in each case, an applicable margin. Such applicable margin is based on the better of 
the Company's senior, unsecured, long-term debt rating or the Company's applicable leverage ratio and can range from 0.00% 
to 1.275%. Interest is payable (a) in the case of base rate loans, quarterly, and (b) in the case ofTenn SOFR loans, on the last 
day of the applicable interest period selected, or every three months hom the etlective date of such interest period tor interest 
periods exceeding three months. The weighted-average interest rate tor borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Facility 
was 4.46% and 4.22% tor the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively. The weighted-average interest rate tor 
borrowings outstanding under the Tenn Facility was 6.54% and 6.22% for the years ended December 3 1, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 

The Credit Agreement requires payment to the lenders of a facility fee based upon the amount of the lenders' commitments 
under the credit facility from time to time, equal to the applicable interest rate times the actual daily amount of the Revolving 
Facility. Voluntary prepayments of any loans and voluntary reductions of the unutilized portion of the commitments under the 
credit facility are pennissible without penalty, su~ject to break funding payments and minimum notice and minimum reduction 
amount requirements. 
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The Credit Agreement gives the Company the option to enter into a future environmental, social and governance 
amendment by which pricing may be adjusted pursuant to the Company's performance measured against certain key 
perfonnance indicators agreed by the Company and BofA Securities, Inc .. , as sustainability coordinator. 

At December 31 , 2024, there was $269.8 million outstanding under the Revolving Facility and $2.8 million of outstanding 
letters of credit, resulting in a net available borrowing capacity under the Revolving Facility of approximately $527.4 million. 

Senior Notes 

On August 21, 2024, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of $500.0 million in aggregate principal 
amount of its 4 .950% Senior Notes. The 4.950% Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 4.950% per ammm, which is payable 
semi-annually in an-ears during the first and third quarters of the year, beginning in the first quarter of 2025. The 4.950% Senio r 
Notes will mature on September I , 2029. The 4.950% Senior Notes are senior, unsecured obligations of the Company and (i) 
rank equal in right of payment to all of the Company's existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness, (ii) rank senior in 
right of payment to all of the Company' s existing and future subordinated indebtedness, and (iii) rank etlectively subordinated 
in right of payment to the Company' s future secured indebtedness. 1l1e net proceeds from the 4 .950% Senior Notes offering 
were $495.0 million, after deducting the underwriting discount and offering expenses paid by the Company. The Company used 
the net proceeds from the offering, together with the Revolving Facility borrowings discussed above and cash on hand, to fund 
the Mott acquisition and pay related fees and expenses . 

.Inclusive of the 4.950% Senior Notes, at December 3 1, 2024, the Company has $1.7 billion in senior notes outstanding at 
various interest rates detailed in the table above (the "Senior Notes"). Interest is payable semi-annually in an-ears during the 
second and fourth quarters of the year for all the Senior Notes except for the 4.950% Senior Notes, which m·e discussed above. 
The Senior Notes are unsecured obligations of the Company and rank pari passu in right of payment with all of the Company's 
other unsecured , unsubordinated debt. Subject to the terms of the respective indenture, the Company may redeem all or a 
portion of the Senior Notes at any time prim· to maturity at the redemption prices set forth in each indenture governing the 
respective Senior Notes. The terms of the 4.950% Senior Notes, the 2.625% Senior Notes and the 3.00% Senior Notes also 
require the Company to make an oiler to repurchase the 4.950% Senior Notes, the 2.625% Senior Notes and the 3.00% Senior 
Notes upon a "Change of Control Triggering Event" (as defined in each indenture governing the respective Senior Notes) at a 
price equal to I 0 I% of the p rincipal amount p lus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. The tenns of the 3.37% Senior Notes and 
the 5.13% Senior Notes also require the Company to make an offer to repurchase the 3.37% Senior Notes and the 5.13% Senior 
Notes upon a change of control (as defrned in the note purchase agreement) of the Company at a price equal to I 00% of the 
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. 

Covenants 

There are two key financial covenants that the Company is required to maintain in connection with the Credit Agreement and 
the Senior Notes, excluding. the 4.950% Senior Notes, the 3.00% Senior Notes and the 2.625% Senior Notes wllich have no 
frnancial covenants. Those two covenants include a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.0 to I and a maximum leverage ratio 
of 3.50 to I , which is the ratio of the Company's consolidated total debt to its consolidated EBITDA, as defined within the 
Credit Agreement, both of which are tested quarterly and in the case of the leverage ratio, there is an option to increase the ratio 
to 4.00 for 12 months in connection with certain acquisitions. While there are no frnancial covenants relating to the 4.950% 
Senior Notes, the 3.00% Senior Notes and the 2.625% Senior Notes, they are subject to cross-acceleration provisions. At 
December 3 1, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under its bon·owing an-angements. 

Total borrowings at December 31, 2024 have scheduled maturities as follows: 

Maturity of Bono wings 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

Thereafter 

Total borrowings 
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$ 

$ 

100.7 

0.5 

270.1 

100.0 

500.0 

1,000.0 

1,971.3 



8. Fair Value Measurements 

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value, provides guidance for measuring fair value and 
requires certain disclosures. This standard discusses valuation techniques, such as the market approach (comparable market 
prices), the income approach (present value of future income or cash flow) and the cost approach (cost to replace the service 
capacity of an asset or replacement cost). The standard utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. The following is a brief description of those three levels: 

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level2: Inputs, other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, eil11er directly or indirectly. These 
include quoted prices for s imilar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or s imilar assets 
or liabilities in markets that are not active. 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions. 

The following table summarizes the basis used to measure the Company's financial assets (liabilities) at fair value on a 
recutTing basis in the balance sheets at December 31 , 2024 and 2023: 

Trading securities- mutual funds held in nonqualified SERP0 > 

Available-for-sale securities - equities<2> 

$ 

B·asis of Fai.- Value Measurements 

Decembe1· 31, 2024 

Level 1 

10.6 $ 

December 31, 2023 

Level l 

10.5 

4.4 

<t> The Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan ("SERP") investment assets are oftset by a SERP liability which represents 
the Company's obligation to distribute SERP funds to participants. The SERP investment assets and liability are included in 
Other noncurrent assets and Other nonclment liabilities, respectively, on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

<2> The securities are included in Other current assets on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets and are available tor 
overllight cash settlement, if necessa1y, to fund cunent operations. 

There were no transfers of assets or liabilities between Level I and Level 2 in 2024 or 2023. 

The carrying values of the Company's other financial instruments (i.e., cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and accrued expenses) approximate tair value because of the short-term nature or these instruments. 

The following table provides the tair value of the outstanding indebtedness described in Note 7, " Borrowings," which is 
based on quoted market prices and current market rates for debt with similar credit risk and matmity, as well as the ca1rying 
value. These tair value measurements are classified as Level 2 within the tair value hierarchy since they are determined based 
upon significant inputs observable in the market, including interest rates on recent financing transactions to entities with a credit 
rating s imilar to the Company's rating. 

December 31,2024 Decembc•· 31,2023 

Fail" Value Can ·ying Amount Fai1·Value Can -ying Amount 

Total Borrowings, less unaccreted debt discount $ 1,855.0 $ 1,970.1 $ 1,203.5 $ 1,332.2 

9. Leases 

The Company has commitments under operating leases for ce11ain oflice tacilities., warehouses, manutactming plants, 
equipment (which includes both office and plant equipment) and vehicles used in its operations Leases with an initial term of 
12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet and the Company recognizes lease expense for these leases on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company's finance leases are immaterial. 

Certain leases include one or more options to renew. The exercise of lease renewal options is at tine Company's sole 
discretion. The Company does not include renewal periods in any of the leases' terms until the renewal is executed as they are 
generally not reasonably cerlain of being exercised. The Company does not have any material purchase options. 
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Certain of the Company's lease agreements contain provisions for future rent increases or have rental payments that are 
adjusted periodically for inflation or based on usage. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual 
value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. 

The Company does not have any significant leases that have not yet commenced. 

Supplemental balance sheet information r·elated to leases as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows: 

Right-of-Use ("ROU") Assets: 

Building ROU assets - net 

Equipment ROU assets - net 

Total ROU assets- net 

Lease Liabilities: 

Current lease liabilities 

Noncurrent lease Liabilities 

Total lease liabilities 

Balance Sheet Caption 

Other noncurrent assets 

Other noncurrent assets 

Accrued expenses 

Other noncurrent liabilities 

December 31, 2024 

$ 114.4 

10.8 

$ 125.2 

$ 26.1 

101.6 

$ 127.7 

Decem bcr· 31, 2023 

$ 110.7 

7.6 

$ 118.3 

$ 22.0 

98.[ 

$ 120.1 

The components oflease cost tor the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022 were as follows: 

Fixed lease cost<!) 

Variable lease cost 

Total lease expense 

( I) Includes short-term leases, which are immaterial. 

$ 

$ 

2024 

34.7 $ 

3.1 

37.8 $ 

2023 2022 

33.0 $ 30.8 

2.7 2.3 

35.7 =$======33==. ]= 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was as 
fo llows: 

Cash paid! for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities 

$ 

2024 

34.6 $ 

19.1 

2023 

Other supplemental infonnation related to leases as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 was as follows: 

33.6 $ 

29.0 

2022 

31.7 

19.0 

Lease Ter·m and Discount Rate December 31, 2024 December· 31, 2023 

Weighted-average remaining lease term (years): 

Building and equipment 6.40 7.00 

Vehicles 2.69 2.63 

Weighted-average discount rate: 

Building and equipment 4.07% 3.71% 

Vehicles 4.35% 3.43% 

The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of the lease payments. 
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Total lease liabilities at December 3 1, 2024 have scheduled maturities as follows: 

Matm·ity of Lease Liabilities 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

Thereafter 

Total lease payments 

Less: lmp11ted interest 

Present value oflease liabilities 
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$ 27.6 

27.9 

22.6 

18.5 

14.9 

35.8 

147.3 

(19.6) 

$ 127.7 



10. Commitments and Contingencies 

Warranty costs are provided for at the time of sale. The watTanty JProvision is based on histmical costs and adjusted for 
specific known claims. A rollforward of the warranty reserve is as follows: 

2024 2023 2022 

Heginning balance, January I $ 9.1 $ 8.1 $ 7.6 

Provision for wananties 5.1 5.8 3.0 

Claim settlements (4.1) (4.7) (4. 1) 

Acquisitions and divestitures 3.6 (0.1) 0.3 

Other adjustments, including foreign currency translation (0 .1 ) 1.3 
Ending balance, December 3 I $ 13.6 $ 9 .1 $ 8. 1 

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are involved in pending and threatened legal, regulatory and other proceedings 
incidental to the operation of their businesses. These proceedings may pertain to matters. such as product liability or contract 
disputes, and may also involve governmental inquiries, inspections, audits or investigations relating to issues such as tax 
matters, intellectual property, environmental, health and safety issues, governmental regulations, employment and other matters. 
Although the results of such legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes that the ultimate 
disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect, individually or in the aggregate, on the Company's business, 
financial condition, results of operations or cash tlows. 

11. Share Repurchases 

On March 17, 2020, the Company's Board of Directors approved an increase of $500.0 million in the authorized level of 
repurchases of common stock. This approval is in addition to the prior repurchase authorizations of the Board of Directors of 
$300.0 million on December I , 2015. These authorizations have no expiration date. There were no share repurchases during 
2024. During 2023, the Company repurchased a total of 124,600 shares at a cost of $24.2 million. During 2022, the Company 
repurchased a total of 795,423 shares at a cost of $148.1 million. As of December 3 1, 2024, the amount of share repurchase 
authorization remaining was $539.7 million. During Febmary 2025, the Company repurchased a total of 256, !59 shares at a 
cost of$50.0 million. 

12. Income Taxes 

Pretax income for 2024, 2023 and 2022 was taxed in the following jmisdictions: 

U.S. 
Foreign 

Total 
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$ 

$ 

2024 

377.9 $ 

261.4 

639.3 $ 

2023 2022 

534. 1 $ 5 16.5 

226.2 232.9 

760.3 =$===7=49=.4= 



The provision (benefit) for income taxes for 2024, 2023 and 2022 was as follows: 

2024 2023 2022 

Current 

U.S. $ 69 .. 0 $ 103.8 $ 102.8 

State and local 11.6 13.7 14.5 

Foreign 73..5 61.9 63.9 

Total current 154.1 179.4 181.2 

DefetTed 

U.S. (2 .6) (11. I) (12.2) 

State and local (2 .1 ) 1.7 (1.0) 

Foreign (14.7) (5.3) (5.3) 

Total deferred ( 19 .4) (14. 7) ( 18.5) 

Total provision for income taxes $ 134.7 $ 164.7 $ 162.7 

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31 , 2024 and 2023 were: 

Decem bet· 31, 2024 Decembet· 31, 2023 

Allowances and accruals $ 2 1.7 $ 18.8 

Employee and retiree benefit plans 19.4 20.9 

Inventories 13.9 10.8 

Foreign tax credit and other carryf01wards 20.8 14.8 

Lease liabilities 26.4 25.8 

Right oflllse assets (25.1) (24.7) 

Depreciation and amortization (3 11.6) (322.1) 

Taxes on undistributed foreign eamings (14.9) (2 1.0) 

Other 1.0 0.7 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities (248.4) (276.0) 

Valuation allowance (17.3) (14.4) 

Total deferred tax liabilities, net of valuation allowances $ (265.7~ $ ~290.4) 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023 were: 

Noncurrent deferred tax asset - Other noncurrent assets 

Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities - Deferred income taxes 

Net deferred tax liabilities 

Decem bet· 31, 2024 Decem bet· 31,2023 

$ 1.5 $ 1.5 

----~(2_67_.2~) ____ ~(2_9_1.9~) 

$ (265.7) =$==~(2=90=.4:::f:) 

The Company had prepaid income taxes, recorded within Other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, of 
$18.3 million and $14.3 mill.ion as ofDecember 3 1, 2024 and 2023, respectively 
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The provision for income taxes differs fi·om the amount calculated by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to 
pretax income. The calculated amount and the differences for 2024, 2023 and 2022 are shown in the following table: 

2024 2023 2022 

Pretax income $ 639.3 $ 760.3 $ 749.4 

Provision for income taxes: 

Computed amount at statutory rate of 21% $ 134.2 21.0% $ 159.7 21.0% $ 157.4 21.0% 

State and local income tax, net of federal tax benefit 7.3 1.1% 12.6 1.7% 11.4 1.5% 

Taxes on non-U.S. earnings, net of foreign tax credits 6.3 1.0% 10.8 1.4% 12.4 1.7% 

Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income - % - % 2.0 0.3% 

Foreign-Derived Intangible Income Deductilon (9.7) (1.5%) ( 11.3) (1.5%) ( 11.9) (1.6%) 

Share-based payments (0.7) (0.1%) (2.0) (0.3%) (2.6) (0.4%) 

Other (2.7) (0.4%) (5.1) (0.6%) (6.0) (0.8%) 

Total provision for income taxes $ 134.7 21.1% $ 164.7 21. 7% $ 162.7 21.7% 

The Company has $73.4 million and $54.9 million of permanently reinvested earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. No defened U.S. income taxes have been provided on the $73.4 million of earnings 
that are considered to be permanently reinvested. The Company does not expect these earnings to incur U.S. taxes when 
ultimately repatriated other than potentially U.S. federal, state and local taxes on foreign exchange gains or losses recognized on 
the distribution of such earnings. Such distributions could also be subject to additional foreign withholding and to re ign income 
taxes. The amount of unrecognized deferred income tax liabilities on currently permanently reinvested earnings is estimated to 
be $ 11.0 million and $8.2 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

During the years ended December 3 1, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company repatriated $483.8 million, $ 134.1 million and 
$199.9 million offoreign earnings, respectively. These actual distributions resulted in no incremental income tax expense other 
than tax impacts on foreign exchange gains or losses. 

The Company did not have significant unrecognized tax benefits in 2024, 2023 and 2022. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has no remaining unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the Company 's 
eflective tax rate. The tax years 2019-2023 remain open to examination by major taxing jurisdictions. Due to the potential 
federal, state and foreign examinations, it is reasonably possible that the Company's gross unrecognized tax benefits balance 
may change. 

As of December 31 , 2024, the Company has minimal deferred tax assets on U.S., non-U.S. and U.S. state net operating loss 
carryforwards of $0.4 million, $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively. The entire balance of net operating losses across 
jurisdictions, the majority of which relates to acquisitions, is available to be carried forward indefmitely. H1ere is no valuation 
allowance as it is more likely than not that the net operating losses will be realized. 

As of December 3 1, 2024, the Company has deferred tax assets on non-U.S capital loss carrytorwards of $3.1 million with 
a full valuation allowance. The non-U.S. capital loss can be carried fotward indefinitely. 

As of December 3 1, 2024, the Company has deferred tax assets on non-U.S. disallowed interest expense carryt"otwards of 
$2.5 million. The non-U.S. disallowed interest expense carrytorwards are available to be catTied totward indefmitely. A 
valuation allowance of $0.6 million has been recorded to recognize only the portion of the defened tax asset that is more likely 
than not to be realized. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has deferred tax assets on foreign tax credit canytorwards t or U.S. federal tax 
purposes of approximately $ 13.6 million with a full valuation allowance. The U.S. federal foreign tax credit carryforward will 
expire between 2029 and 2034. 
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13. Business Segments and Geographic Information 

IDEX has three operating business segments, which are the same as our reportable business segments: FMT, HST and 
FSDP. The Company has determined its segments based on how financial information is reviewed by the chief operating 
decision maker ("CODM") to analyze financial perfo1mance, make decisions and allocate resources. 

The Company' s CODM is the ChiefExecutive Officer. The Company's CODM evaluates the performance of the segments 
and allocates resources to them based on Adjusted EBITDA. Segment Adjusted EBITDA includes intersegment revenues as 
well as charges allocating ce1tain corporate overhead costs. lntersegment sales are contracted with terms equivalent to those of 
an arm's-length transaction. Adjusted EBITDA is the Company's measure of segment performance. 

For all segments, the CODM uses Adjusted EBITDA in the annual budgeting and forecasting process. The CODM 
considers Adjusted EBITDA budget and forecast-to-actual variances when making decisions about the allocation of operating 
and capital resources to each segment. Adjusted EBITDA is also used in detetmining the compensation of certain employees. 

The FMT segment designs, produces and distributes positive displacement pumps, valves, small volume provers, flow 
meters, injectors and other fluid-handling pump modules and systems and provides flow monitoring and other services. FMT 
serves the general industrial, water and wastewater, energy, chemical, agriculture, semiconductor and food and pharmaceutical 
markets. 

The HST segment designs, produces and distributes a wide range of precision fluidics, positive displacement pumps, 
powder and liquid processing teclmologies, d1ying systems, micro-precision components., pneumatic components and sealing 
solutions, high perfonnance molded and extruded sealing components, custom mechanical and shaft seals, engineered hygienic 
mixers and valves, biocompatible medical devices and implantables, air compressors and blowers, optical components and 
coatings, Laboratory and cOimnercial equipment and precision photonac solutions, technical ceramics and hermetic sealing 
products and porous material structures and flow control solutions. HST serves a variety of end markets, including life sciences, 
general industrial, analytical instruments, semiconductor, food and pharmaceutical, energy, automotive, aerospace/defense and 
medical/dental markets. 

The FSDP segment designs, produces and distributes firefighting pll!mps, valves and controls, rescue tools, lifting bags and 
other components and systems, engineered stainless steel banding and clamping devices and precision equipment for 
dispensing, metering and mixing colorants and paints. FSDP serves the fire suppression, paint dispensing, rescue tools, 
automotive, general industrial, aerospace/defense and the energy markets. 

Financial infonnation for the Company's repottable business segments is presented below. 

Foo· the Yc:n· Ended Dcccmbc,. 31, 2024 

Total 
FMT HST FSDP Segments Eliminations IDEX 

NET SALES 

External customers $ 1,231.8 $ 1,294.0 $ 743.0 $ 3,268.8 $ $ 3,268.8 

1ntersegment sales 1.4 4.1 1.3 6.8 (6.8) 

Net sales 1,233.2 1,298.1 744.3 3,275.6 (6.8) 3,268.8 

Adjusted segment cost of sales<•> (639.4) (769.5) (411.9) (1,820.8) 6.8 (1,814.0) 

Other segment expenses<2> ( 187.5) (181.8) (118.2) (487.5) 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA 406.3 346.8 214.2 967.3 
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For the Year· Ended December 31, 2023 

Total 
FMT RST FSDP Segments Eliminations IDEX 

NET SALES 

External customers $ 1,244.2 $ 1,313.5 $ 716.2 $ 3,273.9 $ $ 3,273.9 

Intersegment sales 2.9 2.9 2.6 8.4 (8.4) 

Net sales 1,247.1 1,3 16.4 718.8 3,282.3 (8.4) 3,273.9 

Adjusted segment cost of sales<1l (650.1) (783.1) (400.6) ( 1,833.8) 8.4 (1 ,825.4) 

Other segment expenses<2l (180.9) (173.8) (109.6) (464.3) 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA 416.1 359.5 208.6 984.2 

For tbe Year Ended December 31, 2022 

Total 
FMT RST FSDP Segments E liminat ions IDEX 

NET SALES 

External customers $ 1,166.2 $ 1,336.8 $ 678.9 $ 3,181.9 $ $ 3,181.9 

Intersegment sales l.l 2.4 0.3 3.8 (3.8) 

Net sales 1,167.3 1,339.2 679.2 3,185.7 (3.8) 3,181.9 

Adjusted segment cost of sales0 > (623 .3) (738.9) (388.1) ( 1,750.3) 3.8 (I ,746.5) 

Other segment expenses<2> ( 169.8) (188.5) (I 07 .2) (465.5) 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA 374.2 411.8 183.9 969.9 

( t) Adjusted segment cost of sales represents Cost of sales excluding fair value inventory step-up charges. 

(
2
) Other segment expenses consists prima rily of selling, general and administrative expenses. 

2024 2023 2022 

ADJUSTED EBlTDA 

Fluid & Metering Technologies $ 406.3 $ 416.1 $ 374.2 

Health & Science Technologies 346.8 359.5 411.8 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 214.2 208.6 183.9 

Segment Adjusted EB1TDA 967 .3 984.2 969.9 

Corporate and other<1l (93 .0) (84.6) (85.7) 

Interest expense - net (44.5) (51. 7) (40.7) 

Depreciation (68 .5) (57.2) (50.7) 

Amortization of intangible assets (107 .1) (94.9) (69.0) 

Fair value inventory step-up charges (9 .6) (1 .6) (8.5) 

Restructuring expenses and asset impairments (9.3) (10.9) (4.5) 

Net impact from the exit of a COVID-19 testing application<2l l.l 

Gain on sale of businesses - net 4 .0 84.7 34.8 

Gains on sales of assets 2.7 

Credit loss on note receivable from collaborative partner(3) (7.7) 

Income before income taxes $ 639.3 $ 760.3 $ 749.4 

( t) Corporate expenses that can be identified with a segment have been included in determining segment results. The 
remainder is included in Corporate and other. 

(
2
) Represents the acceleration of previously deferred revenue of $17 9 million, net of an impairment charge of 

$16.8 million as a result of a custome r's decision to discontinue further investment in commerciali zing its COVID-n 9 
testing application in the HST segment in 2022 that did not reoccur in 2023 or 2024. See Note 14, "Restmcturing 
Expenses and Asset Impairments," for further detail. 
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(J) Represents a reserve recorded on an investment with a collaborative partner in Other (income) expense -net during 
2023. During the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company converted the promissoty note receivable from the collaborative 
partner to equity, resulting in a cost method investment with zero value. See Note 3, "Collaborative Investments," for 
further detail. 

2024 2023 2022 

DEPRECIATION 

Fluid & Metering Technologies $ 17.3 $ 14.1 $ 16. 1 

Health & Science Technologies 41.2 33.2 25.7 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 9.0 8.9 8.4 

Total Segments 67.5 56.2 50.2 

Corporate and other 10 10 05 
Total depreciation $ 68.5 $ 57.2 $ 50.7 

AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Fluid & Metering Technologies $ 2 1.1 $ 22.7 $ 20.8 

Health & Science Technologies 79 .7 65.8 41.6 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 6.3 6.4 6.6 

Total amortization $ 107 .I $ 94.9 $ 69.0 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 

Fluid & Metering Technologies $ 14.8 $ 24.2 $ 25.3 

Health & Science Technologies 40.1 55.1 32.0 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 10.2 9.7 10.5 

Total Segments 65 .1 89.0 67.8 

Corporate and other 0.9 0.2 

Total capital expenditures $ 65 .1 $ 89.9 $ 68.0 

December· J J, 2024 December 31,2023 

ASSETS 

Fluid & Metering Technologies $ 1,609.4 $ 1,674.7 

Health & Science Technologies 4,142.6 3,262.4 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 794.1 792.6 

Total Segments 6,546. 1 5,729.7 

Corporate and other 199.2 135.5 

Total assets $ 6,745.3 $ 5,865.2 

Information about the Company's long-lived assets in different geographical regions as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 is 
shown below. 

LONG-LIVED ASSETS- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

U.S. 

North America, excluding US. 

Netherlands 

Europe, excluding Netherlands 

Asia 

Othe/1) 

Total long-lived assets- net 

(1) Other includes: South America, Middle East, Australia and Africa. 
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Decem bet· .31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

$ 271.7 $ 219.2 

20.6 24.0 

51.4 61.5 

71.6 76.9 

44.7 48.3 

0.4 0.4 

$ 460.4 =$========4=30=.3= 



14. Restructuring Expenses and Asset Impairments 

From time to time, the Company incurs expenses to facilitate long-term sustainable growth through cost reduction actions, 
consisting of employee reductions, facility rationalization and contract tem1ination costs. These costs include severance costs, 
exit costs and asset impainnents and are included in Restructuring expenses and asset impairments in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. Severance costs primarily consist of severance benefits through payroll continuation, COBRA subsidies, 
outplacement se1vices, conditional separation costs and employer tax liabilities, while exit costs primarily consist of lease exit 
and contract termination costs. 

2024lnitiative 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Compru1y i.ncurred severance costs related to employee reductions in 
conjunctio-n with cost mitigation efforts as a result of current market conditions and asset impairments. 

Pre-tax Restructuring expenses and asset impainnents by segment for the 2024 initiative were as follows: 

Asset 
Severance Costs Exit Costs Impairments Total 

Fluid & Metering Technologies $ 2.4 $ $ $ 2.4 

Health & Science Technologies 5.8 0.1 5.9 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 0 .5 0.5 

Corporate/Other 0.5 0.5 

Total restructuring costs and asset impainnents $ 9.2 $ $ 0.1 $ 9.3 

2023Jnitiative 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company incurred severance costs related to employee reductions in 
conjunction with cost mitigation efforts as a result of current market conditions, contract tennination costs and asset 
impairments. 

Pre-tax Restructuring expenses and asset impairments by segment for the 2023 initiative were as follows: 

Asset 
Severance Costs Exit Costs lmpainnents Total 

Fluid & Metering Technologies $ 1.5 $ 0.6 $ 0.8 $ 2.9 

Health & Science Technologies 6.4 0.2 6.6 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 0 .7 0 .2 0.9 

Corporate/Other 0.5 0.5 

T oral restructuring costs and asset impainnents $ 9.1 $ 1.0 $ 0.8 $ 10.9 

2022 Initiative 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the restructuring costs incurred by the Company primarily related to asset 
impairments. In addition, the Company also incurred severance costs related to employee reductions. 

In the second quarter of 2020, the Company engaged in the development of a COVID-1 9 testing application with a 
customer at one of the Company's businesses in the l-IST segment As part of this contract, the customer fhlly funded the 
$28.7 million investment needed to complete the development and production of microtluidic ca1tridges during 2020 and 2021. 
The costs incurred by the Company were primarily recorded as Property, plant and equipment- net in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets and were being depreciated over the expected life of the assets, while the reimbursement was recorded as DefeJTed 
revenue in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and was being recognized as units were shipped. 

In the third quarter of2022, the Company was informed by the customer of its decision to discontinue further investment in 
commercializing its COVl0-1 9 testing application. This event was deemed a triggering event, which required an interim 
impairment test be performed on the property. plant and equipment related to this contract, resulting in an impairment charge of 
$16.8 million that was recorded as Restructuring expenses and asset irnpai1ments in the Consolidated Statements of Income 
during the year ended December 31, 2022. In addition, the Company accelerated previously defe1Ted revenue of $17.9 million 
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related to units that are no longer expected to be shipped and recorded it as Net sales in the Consolidated Statements oflncome 
during the year ended December 3 1, 2022. 

Pre-tax Restructuring expenses and asset impairments by segment for !he 2022 initiative were as follows: 

Asset 
Severance Costs Exit Costs Impairments Total 

Fluid & Metering Technologies $ 1.9 $ 0.3 $ 0.5 $ 2.7 

Health & Science Technologies 1.2 16.8 18.0 

Fire & Safety/Diversified Products 1.7 0.1 1.8 

Corporate/Other 0.3 0.3 

Total restructuring costs and asset impairments $ 5. 1 $ 0.3 $ 17.4 $ 22.8 

Restructuring accruals reflected in Accrued expenses in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows: 

Balance at January 1, 2023 

Restructuring expenses0l 

Payments, utilization and other 

Balance at December 31, 2023 

Restructuring expenses<2l 

Payments, utilization and other 

Balance at December 31, 2024 

(tl Excludes $0.8 million of asset impainncnts related to property, plant and equipment. 
(l) Excludes $0.1 million of asset impaim1ents related to property, plant and equipment. 

15. Share-Based Compensation 

$ 

$ 

Restructuring 
Initiatives 

1.4 

IOJ 

(9.4) 

2J 

9.2 

(I 0.4) 

0.9 

The Company maintains two share-based compensation plans for executives, non-employee directors and certain key 
employees that authorize the granting of restricted stock, pertormancc share units and stock options and other types of awards 
consistent with the purpose of the plans. The number of shares authorized tor issuance under the Company's plans as of 
December 31, 2024 totaled 9.9 million, of which 9.7 million shares were available tor future issuance. 

The Company typically grants equity awards annually at its regularly scheduled first quat1er meeting of the Board of 
Directors based on the recommendation from the Compensation Committee. 

The Company's policy is to recognize compensation cost on a straight-line basis, assuming torteitures, over the requisite 
service period tor the entire award. Classification of share-based compensation cost within the Consolidated Statements of 
Income is consistent with the classification of cash compensation tor the same employees. 

Stock Options 

Stock options granted under the Company's plans are generally non-qualified and are granted with an exercise price equal 
to the market price of the Company's stock on the date of grant. The tair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of 
the grant using the Black Scl10les valuation model. Stock options generally vest ratably over tour years, with vesting begitming 
one year from the date of grant, and generally expire 10 years trom the date of grant. The service period tor certain retiree 
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eligible participants is accelerated. Weighted average stock option fair values and assumptions tor the years ended December 
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are disclosed below: 

Weighted average fair value of grants 

Dividend yield 

Volatility 

Risk-free interest rate 

Expected life (in years) 

The assumptions were determined as follows: 

2024 

$63 .61 

1.09% 

26.66% 

4.31% 

4.60 

Yeat-s Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 

$59.77 $42.66 

1.09% 1. 14% 

27.14% 25.23% 

4.15% 2.01% 

4.50 4.90 

TI1e Company estimated volatility using its historical share price performance over the expected life of the option. 
TI1e Company uses historical data to estimate the expected life of the option based on IDEX' s own exercise and 
cancellation history adjusted for current vesting schedules. 
"The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve commensurate with the expected life of the option. 
TI1e Company presents the spot rate used in the Black Scholes valuation model. 
TI1e expected dividend yield is based on the Company's current dividend yield as the best estimate of projected 
dividend yield for periods within the contractual life of the option. 

A summary of the Company's stock option activity as of December 31 , 2024, and changes during the year ended December 
31, 2024, are presented in the following table: 

Stock Options 

Outstanding at January 1, 2024 

Granted 

Exercised 

Forfeited 

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 

Vested and expected to vest at December 3 1, 2024 

Exercisable at December 31 , 2024 

Shat·es 

Weighted 
Average 

Exer·cise Pdce 

983,267 $ 

196,870 

(128,1.64) 

(53, 1 L 7) 

998,856 $ 

969,789 $ 

556,562 $ 

178.86 

234.55 

151.50 

204.95 

191.96 

19 1.03 

170.62 

Weighted-Aver·age 
Remaining 

Contr actual Term 
(yeat·s) 

6.88 $ 

6.63 $ 

6.57 $ 

5.35 $ 

Aggr·cgate 
Intrinsic 

Value 

39.3 

24.9 

24.8 

22.5 

The intrinsic value for stock options outstanding and exercisable is defined as the difference between the market value of 
the Company's common stock as of the end of the period and the grant price. The total intrinsic value of options exercised in 
2024, 2023 and 2022 was $9.6 million, $14.9 mill ion and $17.4 million, respectively. In 2024, 2023 and 2022, cash received 
from options exercised was $ 19.4 million, $26.3 million and $19.3 million, respectively, wllile the actual tax benefit realized for 
the tax deductions from stock options exercised totaled $2.0 mill ion, $3.l million and $3.7 million, respectively. 

As of December 31 , 2024, there was $9.6 mill ion of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options that is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years. 

Restricted Stock 

Restricted stock awards generally cliff vest after three years for employees and non-employee directors. The service period 
for certain retiree eligible participants is accelerated. Unvested restricted stock granted prior to the adoption of the 2024 
Incentive Award Plan earn and are paid dividends. Unvested restricted stock granted after the adoption of the 2024 Incentive 
Award Plan earn dividend equivalents for the award pe1iod, which will be paid to the participants upon vesting of the 
underlying awards. The sale of the shares is restricted prior to the date of vesting. The fair value of restricted stock is equal to 
the market price of the Company's stock at tlhe date of the grant. A summary of the Company' s restricted stock activity as of 
December 3 1, 2024, and changes during the year ended December 31, 2024, are presented in the toll owing table: 
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Wcightcd-Ave1·age 
Grant Date Fair 

Restricted Stock Shnres Vnluc 

Unvested at January 1, 2024 112,891 $ 193.03 

Granted 103,070 211.90 

Vested (24,275) 20J.6g 

Forfeited ( 15,695) 211.29 

Unvested at December 3 I , 2024 175,991 $ 201.27 

As of December 3 1, 2024, there was $ 15.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock that 
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of l.l years. 

Cash-Settled Restricted Stock 

The Company also maintains a cash-settled share-based compensation plan for certain employees. Cash-settled restricted 
stock awards generally clifi vest aiier three years. The service period for certain retiree eligible participants is accelerated. 
Cash-settled restricted stock awards are recorded at fair value on a quarterly basis using the market price of the Company 's 
stock on the last day of the quarter. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, th.e Company has accrued $4.0 million and $4.2 million, 
respectively, for cash-settled restricted stock in Accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and has accrued $2.4 
million and $2.9 million, respectively, for cash-settled restricted stock in Other noncurrent liabilities in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. These recuning fair value measurements are classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. Dividend 
equivalents are paid on certain cash-settled restricted stock awards granted prior to the adoption of the 2024 Incentive Award 
Plan. Dividend equivalents are earned througlhout the award period and paid upon vesting of the underlying award for certain 
cash-settled restricted stock awards granted after the adoption of the 2024lncentive Award Plan. A summary of the Company's 
unvested cash-settled restricted stock activity as of December 31 , 2024, and changes dllling the year ended December 31, 2024, 
are presented in the following table: 

Cash-Settled Restricted Stock 

Uovested at January 1, 2024 

Granted 

Vested 

Forfeited 

Unvested at December 31, 2024 

Shares 
Weighted-A veragc 

Fail· Value 

56,655 $ 

23,655 

(17,230) 

(7,685) 

55,395 $ 

217.11 

229.79 

234.02 

209.29 

209.29 

As of December 31, 2024, there was $4.0 million oftotaltmrecognized compensation cost related to cash-settled restricted 
stock that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.0 year. 

Pe1jormance Share UniJs 

Beginning in 20 13, the Company granted pertonn ance share units to selected key employees that may be earned based on 
1DEX total shareholder retum over the three-year period toll owing the date of grant. Pertonnance share units are expected to be 
made annually and are paid out at the end of a three-year period based on the Company's pertonnance. Pertonnance is 
measured by determining the percentile rank of the total shareholder return of IDEX common stock in relation to the total 
shareholder return of companies in the S&P 500 Index tor the three-year period tollowing the date of grant. The payment of 
awards tollowing the three-year award period will be based on pertonnance achieved in accordance with the scale set forth in 
the plan agreement and may range from 0 percent to 250 percent of the initial grant. A target payout of 100 percent is earned if 
total shareholder retum is equal to the SO'" percentile of the peer group. Pertonnance share Lmits eam dividend equivalents for 
the award period, which will be paid to participants with the award payout at the end of the period based on the actual number 
of performance share units that are earned. Payments made at the end of the award period will be in the form of stock for 
pertotmance share units and will be in cash tor dividend equivalents. The pertonnance share units are market condition awards, 
which are assessed at fair value on the date of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model and are expensed ratably over the 
three-year tenn of the awards. 
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Weighted average performance share tmit fair values and assumptions for the years ended December 3 1, 2024, 2023 and 
2022 are disclosed below: 

Weighted average fair value of grants 

Dividend yield 

Volatility 

Risk-free interest rate 

Expected life (in years) 

The assumptions were determined as follows: 

2024 

$349.59 

-% 

22.23% 

4.45% 

2.94 

Yem-s Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 

$308.1 8 $235.54 

-% -% 

27.00% 28.09% 

4.37% 1.73% 

2.94 2.93 

TI1e Company estimated volatility using its historical share price performance over the remaining performance period 
as of the grant date. 
'D1e Company uses a Monte Carlo simulation model that uses an expected life conunensurate with the performance 
period. As a result, the expected life of the performance share units was assumed to be the period from the grant date 
to the end of the per formance period. 
TI1e risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant with a term 
commensurate with the remaining performance period. 
Total Shareholder Retmn is determined assuming that dividends are reinvested in the issuing entity over the 
perfonnance period, which is mathematically equivalent to uti lizing a 0% dividend yield. 

A summary of the Company' s performance share unit activity as of December 31, 2024, and changes during the year ended 
December 3 1, 2024, are presented in the following table: 

Pe1formanct> Shar i' Units 

Unvested at January l , 2024 

Granted 

Vested 

Forfeited 

Unvested at December 31 , 2024 

Weighted­
Average 

G•·ant Date Fail!" 
Shares 

67,455 $ 

27,135 

(9,606) 

(12,159) 

72,825 $ 

Value 

265.15 

349.59 

245.40 

258.61 

299.87 

The performance period for the 2021 grants ended as of January 31 , 2024. The 2021 grants achieved a 50% payout factor 
and the Company issued 9,606 common shares in February 2024 for awards that vested in 2024. The perfonnance period tor the 
2022 grants ended as of January 3 1, 2025. The 2022 grants achieved a 65% payout factor and the Company issued 15,530 
common shares in February 2025 for awards that vested in 2025. 

As of December 31, 2024, there was $3.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to performance share 
units that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.0 year. 
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Summary of Share-Based Compensation Expense 

Total compensation cost related to all share-based awards was as foHows: 

Stock options expense 

Restricted! stock expense 

Cash-settled restricted stock expense 

Pertonnance share units expense 

Total pre-tax share-based compensation expense<•l 

Income tax benefit 

2024 

$ 

Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 

9.8 $ 9.9 $ 9.2 

8.3 5.7 6.7 
3.4 3.4 2.7 

7.7 6.0 6.0 

29.2 25.0 24.6 

(3.2) (2.7) (2.4) 

Total share-based compensation expense, net of income taxes =$========= ========== =========== 26.0 $ 22.3 $ 22.2 

<•l Pre-tax compensation cost is recognized in bo th Cost of sales and Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated 
Statements or Income depending on the functional area or the underlying employees. Pre-tax compensation expense of $1.6 million, 
$1.4 million and $0.9 million was recognized in Cost of sales in the Consolidated Statements of Income during the years ended December 31 , 
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Pre-tax compensation expense of $27.6 million, $23.6 million, and $23.7 million was recognized in 
Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income during the years ended December 3 1, 2024, 2023 and 
2022, respectively. 

82 



16. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss 

The components of Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as 
follows: 

Cumulntive Tn mslation Pension and Otbe1· 
Adjustment Posh ·ctircment Adjustme nts 

Balance, January 1, 2022°l $ (62.2) $ (7.4) 

Other comprehensive (loss) income betore 
reclassification adjustments (74.9) 24.6 

Loss reclassified from Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss<2l(J) 0.5 

Tax impact (6.8) 

Net other comprehensive (loss) income0l (74.9) 18.3 

Balance, December 3 1, 2022°l $ ~137. '2 $ 10.9 

Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassification adjustments 87.8 (8.2) 

Gain reclassified from Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss<2l(J) (1.5) 

Tax impact 2.3 

Net other comprehensive income (lossi1l 87.8 (7.4) 

Balance, December 31, 2023°l $ (49.3) $ 3.5 

Other comprehensive (loss) income before 
reclassification adjustments (93.7) 4.8 

Gain reclassified fi·om Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss<2l(J) (1.0) 

Amounts reclassified related to divestitures<4l 5.5 

Tax impact (0.7) 

Net other comprehensive (loss) income< I) (88.2) 3.1 

Balance, December 31, 2024<'l $ (137.5) $ 6.6 

( I) Amounts are presented net of tax. 
<
2J Included in the computation of net periodic cost (benefit)_ See Note 17, "Retirement Benefits." 

(JJ Included in Other (income) expense- net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Accumulated Other 
Comp•·chl'nsivc Loss 

$ (69.6) 

(50.3) 

0.5 

(6.8) 

(56.6) 

$ ~ 1 26.2~ 

79.6 

(1.5) 

2.3 

80.4 

$ ~45.8~ 

(88.9) 

(1.0) 

5.5 

(0.7) 

(85.1) 

$ (130.9} 

(
4

) In conjunction with the divestiture of A1fa Valvole during the second quarter of2024, the Company released 
associated cumulative foreign currency translation losses and included !he release as part of the gain on sale of business. 

17. Retirement Benefits 

The Company sponsors several qualified and nonqualified defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans as well 
as other post-retirement plans for its employees. The Company uses a measurement date of December 31 for its defined benefit 
pension plans and post-retirement medical p lans. The Company employs the measurement date provisions of ASC 7 15, 
Compensation-Retirement Benefits, which require the measurement date of plan assets and liabilities to coincide with the 
sponsor's year end. 
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets over the 
periods described below: 

Pension Benefits Othe,. Benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

u.s. Non-U.S. u.s. Non-U.S. 

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION 

Obligation at January 1 $ 8 .9 $ 88.5 $ 8.3 $ 75.7 $ 17.2 $ 16.4 

Service cost 0 .1 1.5 0.1 1.2 0.5 0.4 

Interest cost 0.4 2.6 0.4 2.8 0.8 0.8 

Benefits paid (0.8) (2.2) (0.7) ( 1.4) (0.8) (0.9) 

Actuarial (gain) loss (0 .3) 0.3 0.4 6.2 (0.7) 0.5 

Currency translation (5.3) 5.2 (0.2) 

Settlements (2 5) (3.0) 

Acquisition/Divestiture 0.9 1.0 

Participant contributions 0.9 0.9 

Other (0.1) 0.4 (0. 1) 

Obligation at December 3 1 $ 8.3 $ 84.6 $ 8.9 $ 88.5 $ 16.8 $ 17.2 

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS 

Fair value of plan assets at 
January I $ 4 .3 $ 417 $ 4.7 $ 37.8 $ $ 

Actual ren1m on plan assets 0 .2 6.2 (0.3) 0.9 

Employer contributions 0.4 3.4 0.4 3.3 0.8 0.9 

Benefits paid (0.8) (2.2) (0.7) (1.4) (0.8) (0.9) 

Currency translation (2.3) 3.2 

Settlements (2.5) (3.0) 

Participant contributions 0.9 0.9 

Other (0 I) 0.2 

Fair value of plan assets at 
December 31 $ 4.1 $ 45.1 $ 4.3 $ 41.7 $ $ 

Funded status at December 31 $ (4.2) $ (39.5) $ (4.6) $ (46.8) $ (16.8) $ (17.2) 

COMPONENTS ON TI-lE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

Other noncurrent assets $ $ 21 $ $ 1.5 $ $ 

Accrued expenses (0.7) ( 1.8) (0.7) (1.7) ( I. I) (1.1) 

Other noncurrent I iabilities (3.5) (39.8) (3.9) (46.6) (15.7) (16.1) 

Net asset (liability) at 
December 3 1 $ (4.2) $ (39.5) $ (4.6) $ (46.8) $ (16.8) $ (17.2) 

The pension benefits actuarial gains and losses in 2024 net to zero. The impact of the decrease in discount rates from 2023 
to 2024 for the non-U.S. pension schemes was ot!Set by lower inflation in the Eurozone. The U.S. pension actuarial gains 
generated due to the increase in the discount rates from 2023 to 2024. The larger than expected asset returns have resulted in a 
net gain on the balance sheet. 

The other benefits actuarial gain in 2024 was primarily driven by the increase i11 the discount rates H·om 2023 to 2024 with 
additional gains from updated pmticipant data for the U.S. plans, pattially onset by losses from the updated health care trend 
and claim cost assumptions. 

The accumulated benefit obligation tor aU defined benefit pension plans was $89.4 million and $94.6 million at December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The weighted average assumptions used in the measurement of the Company's benetit obligation at December 31 , 2024 
and 2023 were as follows: 
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U.S. Pla ns Non-U.S. Plans Other Benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 

Discount rate 5.41% 4.93% 2.91% 3.01% 5.40% 4.90% 

Rate of compensation increase NIA N/A 2.38% 2.55% NIA NIA 
Cash bala!llce interest credit rate N/A N/A 1.25% 1.43% N/A N/A 

The pretax amounts recognized in Accmnulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of 
December 3 1, 2024 and 2023 were as tallows: 

Pension Benefits Othe•· Benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

u.s. Non-U.S. u.s. Non-U.S. 

Prior service cost (credit) $ 0.1 $ (0.3) $ 0.2 $ (0.4) $ (0.2) $ (0.3) 

Net loss (gain) 2.3 (I 8) 2.7 1.8 (8..4) (8.6) 

Total $ 2.4 $ (2.1) $ 2.9 $ 1.4 $ (8.6) $ (8.9) 

The components of the net periodic cost (benefit) !or the p lans in 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as tallows: 

Pension Benefits 

2024 2023 2022 

u.s. Non-U.S. u.s. Non-U.S. u.s. Non-U.S. 

Service cost $ 0.1 $ 1.5 $ 0.1 $ 1.2 $ 0 .1 $ 1.8 

Interest cost 0.4 2.6 0.4 2.8 0.2 1.0 

Expected Jetum on plan assets (0.3) (1.8) (0.2) (1.6) (0.2) (1.3) 

Settlement gain recognized (0.3) (0.1) 

Net amortization 0.3 (0.1) 0.1 (0.6) 0.3 0.6 

Net periodic cost $ 0.5 $ 1.9 $ 0.4 $ 1.7 $ 0 .4 $ 2.1 

Othcl' Benefits 

2024 2023 2022 

Service cost $ 0 .5 $ 0.4 $ 0.7 

Interest cost 0.8 0.8 0.5 

Net amortization (0.9) (0.9) (0.5) 

Net periodic cost $ 0 .4 $ 0 .3 $ 0.7 

The Company recognizes the service cost component in both Cost o f sales and Selling, general and adm:inistrative expenses 
in the Consolidated Statements of income depending on the functional area of the underlyillg employees. All other components 
of net periodic cost (benefit) aJe recorded in Other (income) expense - net in the Consolidated Statements of income. 

The assumptions used in dete1mining the net periodic cost (benefit) were as follows: 

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans 

2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 

Discount rate 4.93% 5.17% 2.52% 3.01% 3.75% 1.25% 

Expected retum on plan assets 5.40% 4.65% 2.63% 4.37% 4. 17% 2.87% 

Rate of compensation increase NIA NIA N/A 2.55% 2.44% 2.31 % 
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Othc1· Benefits 

2024 2023 2022 

Discount rate 4.90% 5.21% 2.70% 

Expected return on plan assets NIA N/A N/A 

Rate of compensation increase NIA N/A N/A 

The pretax change recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Balance Sheet in 2024 is as 
tollows: 

Other 
Pens ion Benefits Benefits 

u.s. Non-U.S. 

Net gain i11 current year $ 0.2 $ 4.1 $ 0.7 

Prior service credit 0.1 

Amortization of piior service credit (0.1) (0.[) 

Amortization of net loss (gain) 0.3 (0.8) 

Settlement gain recognized (0.3) 

Exchange rate etlect on amounts in other comprehensive income (0.2) (0. [) 

Total $ 0.5 $ 3.6 $ (0.3) 

The discount rates for the Company's plans are derived by matching the plan's cash flows to a yield curve that provides the 
equivalent yields on zero-coupon bonds for each matlllity . The discount rate selected is the rate that produces the same present 
value of cash !lows. 

In selecting the expected rate of return on plan assets, the Company considers the historical returns and expected returns on 
plan assets. The expected retmns are evaluated using asset return class, variance and correlation assumptions based on the 
plan's target asset allocation and current market conditions. 

Prior seivice costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of active participants. 
Gains and losses in excess of I 0% of the greater of the benefit obligation or the market value of assets are amortized over the 
average remaining service period of active participants. 

For measurement purposes, a 6.86% weighted average annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care 
benefits was assumed for 2024. The rate was assumed to decrease gradua lly each year to a rate of 4.00% for 2047 and remain at 
that level tl1ereaft.er. 

Costs of defrned contribution plans were $17.4 million, $16.8 million and $16.1 million for 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

The Company, through its subsidiaries, partiCipates in a multi-employer pension plan covering approximately 2]3 
participants m1der U.S. collective bargaining agreements. None of these plans are considered individually significant to the 
Company as contributions to these plans totaled $1.0 million, $0.9 million, and $0.8 million for 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 
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Plan Assets 

The Company's pension plan weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2024 and 2023, by asset categ01y, were 
as follows: 

U.S.. Plans Non-U.S. Plans 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

Equity securities 9% 9% I% 10% 

Fixed income securities 79% 79% 25% 22% 

Cash/Commingled Funds/Other0 > 12% 12% 74% 68% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 

The basis used to measure the defined benefit plans' assets at fair value at December 31, 2024 and 2023 is summarized as 
follows: 

Basis ofFak Value Mcasu,.cmcnt 

Outstanding 
Balances Level 1 Lcvel 2 Lcvel3 

As of Dcccmbc•· 31, 2024 

Equity 

U.S. Large Cap $ 0.2 $ 0.2 $ $ 

U.S. Small I Mid Cap 

International 0.8 0.8 

Fixed Income 

U.S. Intermediate 2.5 2.5 

U .S. Long Term 3.1 3.1 

U.S. High Yield 0 .7 0.7 

International 8.2 0 .2 8.0 

Other Commingled Funds0 ) 300 30.0 

Cash and Equivalents 2.1 2 .1 

Other 1.7 1.7 

$ 49.3 $ 3.3 $ 16.0 $ 30.0 

(I) Other commingled funds represent pooled institutional investments in non-U.S. plans. 
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Basis ofFak V alue Measu,.cmcnt 

Outstanding 
Balances Level l Levc12 Levcl 3 

As of Decem be•· 31, 2023 

Equity 

U.S. Large Cap $ 0.2 $ 0.2 $ $ 

U.S. Small I Mid Cap 2. 1 2.1 

International 2.4 0.8 1.6 

Fixed Income 

U.S. Intermediate 2.5 2.5 

U.S. Long Term 3.3 3.3 

U.S. High Yield 0.5 0.5 

International 6.4 0.2 6.2 

Other Conuningled Funds(') 25.8 25.8 

Cash and Equivalents 1.1 0.6 0.5 

Other 1.7 1.7 

$ 46.0 $ 1.8 $ 18.4 $ 25.8 

(I) Other commingled funds represent pooled institutional investments in non-U.S. plans. 

Equities that are valued using quoted prices are valued at the published market prices. Equities in a common collective trust 
or a registered investment company that are valued using significant other observable inputs are valued at the net asset value 
("NA V") provided by the fund administrator. The NA V is based on the value of the underlying assets owned by the fund minus 
its liabilities. Fixed income securities that are valued using significant other observable inputs are valued at prices obtained 
fi·om independent financial se1vice industry-recognized vendors. 

Investment Policies and Strategies 

The investment o~jective of the U.S. plan, consistent with prudent standards for preservation of capital aud maintenance of 
liquidity, is to earn the highest possible total rate of return consistent with the plan's tolerance for risk. The general asset 
allocation guidelines for plan assets are that "equities" will constitute I 0% and "fixed income" obligations, including cash, will 
constitute 90% of the market value of total fund assets. 

The investment objective of the UK plan, consistent with prudent standards for preservation of capital and maintenance of 
liquidity, is to earn a target return of UK Gilts plus approximately 1.3% per year. The general asset allocation guidelines for 
plan assets are that "fixed income" obligations, including cash, will constitute 100% of the market value of total fund assets. 

The term "equities" includes common stock, while the term "fixed income" includes obligations with contractual payments 
and a specific maturity date. Diversification of assets is employed to ensure that adverse performance of one security or security 
class does not have an undue detrimental impact on the portfolio as a whole. Diversification is interpreted to include 
diversification by type, characteristic and number of investments as well as by investment style of designated investment fund 
managers. No restrictions are placed on the selection of indiv idual investments by the investment fund managers. The total fund 
performance and the perfonnance of the investment fund managers is reviewed on a regular basis using an appointed 
professional independent advisor. As of December 31,2024, there were no shares of the Company's stock held in plan assets. 

Cash Flow~ 

The Company expects to contribute approximately $3.7 million to its defined benefit plans and $1. 1 million to its other 
postretirement benefit plans in 2025. The Company also expects to contribute approximately $ 17. 1 million to its defmed 
contribution plan in 2025 using cash on hand. 
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Estimatetl Future Benefit Payments 

The future estimated benefit payments for the next five years and the five years thereafter are as follows: 

Estimated Future Benefits 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

2030 to 2034 

18. Subsequent Events 

$ 7.4 

6.5 

6.8 

6.5 

7.0 

32.2 

Duting the first quarter of 2025, the Company initiated organizational changes, primarily designed to connect scalable 
groups of businesses and strategically shift away from strictly vertical organizations towards more etlicient horizontal 
fi·ameworks. Additionally, we eliminated layers in select areas. These changes are expected to enable the Company to self-fund 
more growth resources, increase sourcing productivity, improve agility and speed of decision making and position the Company 
closer to the customer for maximum impact. These actions are expected to result in approximately $21 million to $25 million of 
restructuring charges for severance related to employee reductions in 2025. 
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Item 9. C hanges in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls a nd Procedures. 

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed in the Company's Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time petiods 
specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's 
management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosme. 

As required by SEC Rule 13a-IS(b ), the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervJston and with the 
participation of the Company's management, including the Company's ChiefExecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of 
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period 
covered by this repot1. Based on the foregoing, the Company' s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded 
that the Company's disclosme controls and procedures were effective as of December 31 , 2024. 

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing on page 38 of this report is incorporated 
into this Item 9 A by reference. 

There has been no change in the Company' s internal control over financial reporting during the Company's most recent 
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's intemal control over 
frnancial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Company's directors or executive officers adopted or terminated 
any contract, instruction or wtitten plan for the purchase or sale or Company securities that was intended to satisfy the 
affim1ative defeuse conditions or Rule lObS- l(c) or any "non-Rule l ObS-1 trading arrangemeut" as defined in Item 408 or 
Regulation S-K under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections. 

Not Applicable. 
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PART III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Otlicers and Corporate Governance. 

In formation under the headings "Election of Directors"; "Board Committees"; and "Corporate Govemance" in the 2025 
Proxy Statement is incorporated into this Item 10 by reference. lnfonnation regarding executive ofticers of the Company is 
located in Part I, Item 1, of this report under the caption "Infonnation about Our Executive Officers." 

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to the Company's directors, officers 
(including the Company's principal executive ofticer, principal fmancial officer and principal accounting ofticer) and 
employees .. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, along with the Audit Committee Charter, Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee Chat1er, Compensation Committee Charter and Corporate Governance Guidelines are available on the 
Company's website at www.idexcorp.com under "Investors." In the event the Company amends or waives any of the provisiom 
of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to the Company's principal executive ofticer, principal financial officer 
or principal accounting officer, the Company intends to disclose the same on its website. 

The Company has insider trading polici!es and procedures that govern the purchase, sale and other dispositions of its 
securities by directors, ofticers, employees and contractors, as well as by the Company itself. We believe these policies and 
procedures are reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, r ules and regulations and applicable 
listing standards. A copy of our Insider Trading Policy is fi led with this Annual Report on Fonn 1 0-K as Exhibit 19. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation. 

Information under the heading "Executive Compensation" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated into this Item 11 by 
reference. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 

Information under the heading "Security Ownership" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated into this Item 12 by 
reference. 

Equity C ompensation Plan Information 

Information with respect to the Company' s equity compensation p lans as of December 31, 2024 is as follows: 

Plan Cateam-v 

Equity compensation plans approved by the Company's 
stockholders 

Equity compensations plans not approved by the Company's 
stockholders 

'umber· of Securities 
To be l ssucd Upon 

E.u1·cise of 
Outsta!IJding Options, 
Warra n ts and Rights 

Weighted-A vemge 
Exe1·cise P rice of 

Outstanding 
Options, \Varrants 

and Rights 

1,247,052 $ 191.96 

Number of Securities 
Re maining Available fo:.1· 
F utu1·e Issua nce Under 
E quity Com£cnsation 

Plans I) 

9,719, 183 

(I) Includes an indetern1inate number of shares underlying deferred compensation units ("DC Us") granted under the 
Directors Deferred Compensation Plan and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-officer Presidents which are issuable 
under the Company 's Bncentive Award P lan. Also includes an indeterminate number of shares underlying DCUs granted 
under the Defen·ed Co mpensation P lan for Otl·lcers, which shares are issuable under the Incentive Award Plan. The 
number of DCUs granted under these p lans is detennined by dividing the amount defened by the closing price of the 
common stock the day before the date of deferral. The DCUs are entitled to receive dividend equivalents which are 
reinvested in DCUs based on the same fmm ula for investment of a participant' s defetTal. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Indep endence. 

lnfonnation under the headings, "Corporate Govemance" and "Board Committees" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is 
incorporated into this Hem 13 by reference. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 

91 



lnfonnation under the heading "Principal Accountant Fees and Services" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated into 
this Item 14 by reference. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(A) 1. Financial Statements 

Consolidated Financial Statements filed as part of this report are Listed under Part II, Item 8. "Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data_" 

2. Financial Statement Schedules 

F inanc ial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not required, not material or because the 
required information is included in the Con sol ida ted Financial Statements of the Company or the Notes thereto. 

3. Exhibits 

The exhibits filed with this report are listed on the "Exhibit Index," which precedes the signature page of this repott. 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary. 

None. 
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Exhibit 
Numbel' 

3. 1 

3.2 

4.1 

4.2 

4.3 

4.4 

4.5 

4.6 

4.7 

10. 1** 

10.2** 

10.3** 

10.4** 

10.5** 

10.6** 

10.7** 

10.8** 

Exhibit Index 

Descl'iption 

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of IDEX Corporation as amended to date (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Armual Repott of IDEX Corporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 20 17) 

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of lUEX Corporation, etlective as of October 24, 2022 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form I 0-Q of WEX Corporation 
for the quarter ended September 30, 2022) 

Indenture between IDEX Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Tmstee, dated as of 
December 6, 2010 (Debt Securities) (incorporated by relerence to Exhibit No. 4.1 to the Current Report o r 
illEX Corporation on Form 8-K filed December 7, 2010) 

Third Supplemental Indenture between IDEX Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
Tmstee, dated as of Apri• 29, 2020, (as to 3.00% Senior Notes due 2030) (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit No. 4.2 to the Current Report ofiDEX Corporation on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2020) 

Fourth Supplemental Indenture between ll)EX Corporation and Wells Fargo Hank, National Association, 
as Trustee, dated as of May 28, 2021 , (as to 2.625% Senior Notes due 203 1) (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit No. 4.2 to the Current Report of IDEX Corporation on Form 8-K filed May 28, 202 I) 

Fifth Supplemental Indenture between IDEX Corporation and Computershare Tmst Company, N.A., as 
successor to Wells Fargo Hank, National Association, as Trustee, dated as of Auf,ruSt 21 , 2024, (as to 
4.950% Senior Notes due 2029) (incorporated by reference to Exhib it No. 4.2 to the CmTent Report of 
IDEX Corporation on Form 8-K filed August 21, 2024). 

Note Purchase Agreemen~, dated June 13, 2016, between IDEX Co1poration and the Purchasers listed in 
Schedule A thereto (incorporated by reference in Exhibit No. 4.1 to the Cunent Report of lDEX 
Corporation on Form 8-K filed June 15, 20 16) 

Note Purchase and Master Note Agreement, dated June 13, 2023, among IDEX Corporation, NYL 
Investors LLC, New York Life Insurance Company, New York Life Group Insurance Company of NY, 
New York Life Insurance and Annuity C01poration T nstitutionally owned Life Insurance Separate Accomll 
(BOLl 3), New York Lite Insurance and Annuity Corporation Ins titutionally owned Lite Insurance 
Separate Account (BOLl 3-2) and New York Life Insurance and Annuity Corporation Institutionally 
owned Life Insurance Separate Account (BOLl 30C) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 4.I to the 
Current Report of iDEX Corporation on Form 8-K filed Jm1e 14, 2023) 

Description of Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 4.5 to the Annual Report of lDEX 
Corporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019) 

IDEX Corporation 2024 Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant's 
Registration Statement on Fom1 S-8, filed with the Commission on May 7, 2024) 

Revised and Restated IOEX Corporation Management Incentive Compensation Plan tor Key Employees 
Effective January I, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.1 to the Quarterly Report on Fonn 10-Q 
ofW EX Corporation for the quarter ended June 30, 2023) 

IUEX Corporation Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reterence to Exhibit I 0.2 
to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Fonn l 0-K tor the fiscal year ended December 31 , 20 17) 

IDEX C01poration Amended and Restated Stock Op~ion Plan for Outs ide Directors, adopted by resolution 
of the Board of Directors dated as of November 20, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0 6 (a) to 
the Annual Repott of IDEX Corporation on Fonn I 0-K for the year ended December 3 1, 2003) 

IDEX Corporation Incentive Award Plan (as amended and restated) (incorporated by reference to 
Appendix A of the Proxy Statement ofiDEX Corporation on Schedule 14A, tiled March 5, 2015) 

Third Amended and Restated IDEX Corporation Directors Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. l 0.30 to the Annual Report of ill EX Corporatwn on Fotm 10-K for the year 
ended December 3 1, 20 I 0) 

IDEX C01poration Supplemental Executive Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 10.31 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Form 1 0-K for the year 
ended December 31 , 201 0) 

Letter Agreements between IDEX Corporation and Eric Ashleman, dated January 14, 2008 and February 
12, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.14 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on 
Fotm 10-K for the year ended December 31 , 2014) 
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10.9** 

10.10** 

10.11 ** 

10.12** 

IO.l3** 

10.14** 

10.15** 

10.16** 

10.17** 

10.18** 

10.19** 

10.20** 

10.21** 

1 0.22** 

1 0.23** 

10.24** 

10.25** 

I 0.26** 

Fonn of IDEX Corporation Stock Option Agreement effective Febmary 2015 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit No. 10. 17 to the Annual Report ofiDEX Corporation on Fonn I 0-K for the year ended December 
31 , 2014) 

Form of lUEX Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement eftective Febmary 20 15 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit No. I 0.18 to the Annual Report ofJDEX Corporation on Fonn I 0-K for the yea:r 
ended December 31, 2014) 

Form or JIJEX Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement - Cash Settled el:lective February 
2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.19 to the Annual Report of illEX Corporation on Form 
1 0-K for the year ended December 31, 20 14) 

F01m of IDEX Corporation Performance Share Unit Award Agreement effective February 2015 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.20 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Form 10-K 
tor the year ended December 3 1, 20 14) 

Form of IDEX Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Directors etlective February 2015 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.21 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31 , 20 14) 

Form of IDEX Corporation Stock Option Agreement etl:ective Febmary 2015 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit No. 10.22 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Form 10-K for the year ended December 
31 , 2014) 

Form of lUEX Corporation Restricted Stock Award Agreement effective February 2015 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit No. 10.23 to the Annual Report of IOEX Corporation on Form 10-K for the yea:r 
ended December 31, 2014) 

Letter Agreement between lUEX Corporation and Eric D. Ashleman, dated January 21 , 2021 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Fonn 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2020) 

Amendment to Letter Agreement dated February 12, 2014, between IDEX Corporation and Eric D . 
Ashleman, etlective as of April 24, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report 
on Fonn I 0-Q of JIJEX Corporation tor the quarter ended March 31 , 20 17) 

F01m of JDEX Corporation Pertonnance Share Unit Award Agreement - Stock Settled, etlective February 
2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Annual Report ofiDEX Corporation on Fonn !O­
K for the fiscal year ended December 31 , 20 17) 

Fonn of IDEX Corporation Restricted Stock Award Agreement, etlective February 2018 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Fonn 10-K for the fisca l year 
ended December 3 1, 20 17) 

Fonn of illEX Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Directors, etlective Febmary 2018 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Form 10-K for 
the liscal year ended December 3 I, 20 17) 

Form of IDEX Corporation Perlormance Share Unit Award Agreement - Cash Settled, ellective February 
2018 (incorporated by reterence to Exhibit I 0.29 to the Annual Report of IUEX Corporation on Fonn I O­
K for the fiscal year ended December 31 , 20 17) 

Fo•m of IDEX Corporation Stock Option Agreement, e f'tective February 2018 (inco•porated by reference 
to Exhibit I 0.30 to the Annual Report of JDEX Corporation on Fonn I 0-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 31 , 20 17) 

Fo•m of IDEX Corporation Stock Option Agreement - Cash Settled, etlective February 2018 (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit I 0.31 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Fonn I 0-K for the fiscal yeaT 
ended December 31, 2017) 

Fonn of illEX Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement - Cash Settled, etlective February 
2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on Fonn !O­
K for the fiscal year ended December 31 , 20 17) 

Fonn of illEX Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, etlective December 2015 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.33 to the Annual Report of IV EX Corporation on Form I 0-K tor 
the fiscal year ended December 3 1, 20 17) 

Fo•m of IVEX Corporation Contidential Information, Work Product and Restrictive Covenant Agreement 
(incorporated by reterence to Exhibit 10.34 to the Annual Report of WEX Corporation on Form 10-K tor 
the fiscal year ended December 31 , 20 17) 
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10.27 

I 0.28** 

I 0.29** 

10.30** 

10.31 ** 

19* 

21* 

23* 

31.1 * 
31.2* 

32.1 *** 

32.2*** 
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Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November ! , 2022, which amends and restates the 
Credit Agreement, dated as of May 3 1, 2019, by and among IDEX Corporation and certain of its 
subsidiaries, as borrowers, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and an issuer 
of letters of credit; JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, Natjonal Associatjon, as co­
syndication agents and issuers of letters of credit; HSBC Bank USA, National Association, Mizuho Bank, 
Ltd., and Bank of China, Chicago Branch, as co-documentation agents and the other lenders and financial 
institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of 
IDEX Corporation filed on November 2, 2022) 

lOEX Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, ettective January I, 2020 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.35 to the Annual Report of IIJEX Corporation on Form I 0-K for 
the fiscal year ended December 31 , 20 19) 

Letter Agreement between lOEX Corporation and Melissa S. Flores, dated as of January 7, 202[ 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. I 0.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form I 0-Q of W EX Corporation 
for the quarter ended March 3 1, 2022) 

Letter Agreement between IDEX Corporation and Lisa M. Anderson, dated as of February 16, 2022 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Annual Report oflDEX Corporation on Form 10-K for 
the fiscal year ended December 3 I , 2022) 

Letter Agreement between IDEX Corporation and Abhishek Khandelwal, dated as of October 19, 2023 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.30 to the Annual Report ofiDEX Corporation on Form I 0-K for 
the fiscal year ended December 3 1, 2023) 

LDEX Insider Trading Policy 

SubsidiaTies ofiDEX 

Consent ofDeloitte & Touche LLP 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- l4 (a) or Rule 15d-l4 (a) 

Certification of Chief Financial Otllcer Pursuant to Rule 13a-l4 (a) or Rule 15d-14 (a) 

Certification pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code 

Certification pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code 

IDEX Corporation Policy on Recoupment ofJncentive Compensation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
97 to the Annual Report of IDEX Corporation on F onn I 0-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023) 

*,****101 The following materials :fi·om IDEX Corporation's Annual Report on Form I 0-K for the year ended 
December 31 , 2024 lormatted in lnline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the 
Consolidated Halance Sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Income 
for the three years ended December 31, 2024, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive income 
for the three years ended December 31, 2024, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Equity for the three years 
ended December 31, 2024, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three years ended 
December 3 1, 2024, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

*,**** 104 

* 

** 

*** 

**** 

Cover Page Ioteractive Data File (Formatted Jnline X HRL and contained in Ex.hibit 101) 

Filed herewith. 

Management contract or compensatory plan or agreement. 

Furnished herewith. 

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL related infonnation in Exhibits 10 I and I 04 to this 
Annual Report on Fom1 10-K shall not be deemed to be «filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, 
or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be part of any registration statement or other 
document filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific 
reference in such filing. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15( d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Date: Febmary 20, 2025 

IDEX CORPORATION 

By: /s/ ABHISHEK KHANDELWAL 

Abhishek Khandelwal 

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Ofiicer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the Reg1stranr and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signatu.-e 

lsi ERIC D. ASHLEMAN 

Eric D. Ashlernan 

/s/ ABHISHEK KHANDEL W AL 

Abhishek Khandelwal 

Is/ ALLISON S. LAUSAS 

Allison S. Lausas 

Is/ MARK A. BECK 

Mark A Beck 

lsi MARK A. BUTHMAN 

Mark A. Buthman 

lsi ALEJANDRO QUIROZ CENTENO 

Alejandro Quiroz Centeno 

/s/ CARL R. CHRISTENSON 

Carl R. Christenson 

lsi LAKECIA N. GUNTER 

Lakecia N. Gunter 

lsi KATRINA L. HELMKAMP 

Katrina L. Helmkamp 

Is/ DAVID C. PARRY 

David C. Parry 

Is/ LIVINGSTON L. SATTERTHWAITE 

Livingston L. Satterthwaite 

/ s/ L. PARJS WATTS-STANFIELD 

L. Paris Watts-Stanfield 

Chief Executive Otficer, 
President and Director 

(Principal Executive Ofticer) 

Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial 

Officer (Principal Financial Otlicer) 

Vice President and 
Chief Accounting Officer 

(Principal Accounting Officer) 

Director 

DiJector 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Non-Executive Chair of the Board and 
Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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